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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm Councilman

          3  Jim Gennaro, Chair of the City Council's Committee

          4  on Environmental Protection, and today we're joined

          5  by members of the Committee, and also by the Speaker

          6  of the Council, Chris Quinn.  We're very gratified

          7  to have the Speaker here with us.

          8                 Thank you, Madam Speaker, for being

          9  here.  It's a pleasure to have you.

         10                 We're also joined by Council Members

         11  Eugene, Council Member Mark-Viverito, Councilman

         12  Vallone and Councilman Gioia.  There will be other

         13  Council Members coming in as the hearing goes on.

         14                 As I was saying, today we're holding

         15  an oversight hearing on the progress of the

         16  clean-up, the slow clean-up, of oil spills in and

         17  around Newtown Creek, and I thank you all very much

         18  for being here.

         19                 Millions of gallons of oil have been

         20  spilled into the ground, groundwater and water

         21  bodies around Newtown Creek. These spills date back

         22  decades, possibly even to the late '40's, although

         23  they were not widely known about until a large spill

         24  in Newtown Creek was seen by the Coast Guard in

         25  1978.  Subsequent investigations revealed the
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          2  immense quantities of oil pollution in the area.

          3                 This is just to remind people to turn

          4  down their cell phones, which I didn't do.  Shame on

          5  me.  I blame my staff. It's like a staff trick.  You

          6  know how they are.  Anyway, I'm trying to turn the

          7  thing off, and this thing is still looking at me.

          8                 In 1990, these spills, as well as an

          9  additional 50,000 gallon spill from the collapse of

         10  Exxon Mobil's Tank 69 that occurred in 1990, became

         11  the subject of a number of consent orders that

         12  strived to clean-up as much of this oil as is

         13  possible.  Under these and related efforts, over 9

         14  million gallons of oil have been removed from the

         15  ground leaving millions more gallons to be cleaned

         16  up.

         17                 Due to various unresolved issues, and

         18  through the leadership of our Congressional

         19  representatives  --  and Congresswoman Velazquez

         20  will be our first witness.  We look forward to

         21  hearing from her  --  Section 410 of the Coast Guard

         22  and Maritime Transportation Act of 2006 called for

         23  the Environmental Protection Agency, the EPA, to

         24  conduct a study of public health and safety concerns

         25  relating to the Newtown Creek oil spill.
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          2                 The EPA report was issued on

          3  September 12th, 2007. The study focuses on efforts

          4  to remediate and recover petroleum products and to

          5  examine potential pathways of human exposure.  The

          6  report revealed several matters of concern.

          7                 Number one, the responsible party's

          8  lack of coordinated approach for product recovery,

          9  and as a result, potential exists for recovery

         10  efforts by one party to hinder the efforts of

         11  another party.

         12                 Number two, previous plume volume and

         13  recovery rates may have not been accurate.

         14                 Three, a better estimate of product

         15  thickness beneath the North Henry Street Terminal

         16  appears to be warranted.

         17                 Number four, long- term plans are

         18  needed for final recovery methods once recovery

         19  wells are no longer efficient as it is probable that

         20  a "smear zone" of residual product may be retained

         21  in site soils and continue to act as a source for

         22  ground water contamination.

         23                 Number five, it appears that although

         24  it will not be possible to recover all of the free

         25  product, and final clean- up goals have not been
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          2  discussed in any of the available documents reviewed

          3  by the Council staff.  The report also found a

          4  number of issues regarding the potential impacts of

          5  soil vapor intrusion from the plume into people's

          6  homes calling for additional testing among other

          7  things.

          8                 Getting to the bottom of these

          9  matters is of course critically important

         10  particularly as it regards public health, and so

         11  without further ado, I'm going to introduce one of

         12  the driving forces behind this whole effort

         13  Congresswomen Nydia Velazquez who I will call as my

         14     --  Before I do that though, I would like to call

         15  upon, if I could just beg her indulgence  --  I'm

         16  very gratified, as I said out the outset that

         17  Speaker Quinn has taken a deep interest in this

         18  issue, and is here to lend her voice to these

         19  proceedings.  I would like to call upon the Speaker

         20  to make a statement at this time, and thank her,

         21  once again, for being here. Madam Speaker.

         22                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you very much,

         23  Jim, and I want to thank you for holding this

         24  important oversight hearing.  You know in some ways

         25  your introduction says it all because you spanned
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          2  many, many years in that introduction, and still

          3  we're here in 2007 with unanswered questions, and

          4  we're here in 2007 with --  a few months ago now  --

          5    another report coming out calling into really

          6  serious question the environmental impact of what is

          7  going on, and really raising questions about whether

          8  the right questions have even been asked about

          9  things such as fumes and their impact on the area

         10  and on residents.  So our goal, and our hope today

         11  with this hearing, and I know with your leadership

         12  this will happen, is for the Council to add its

         13  voice even more loudly to the work around this issue

         14  around Newtown Creek, for the Council to make a

         15  statement as the City of New York to say we are not

         16  satisfied with where things are at.  We're not

         17  satisfied with the fact that we're still talking

         18  about clean- up so many years after this was first

         19  uncovered, and that we're unsatisfied with the fact

         20  that we still don't have answers.

         21                 You know it's really unthinkable that

         22  you could have this kind of an environmental

         23  problem, and have to go see residents who live in

         24  this area and not be able to answer their questions,

         25  not be able to say when the clean- up will actually
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          2  be all said and done.  So I want to thank you for

          3  having this hearing.  I also want to thank our

          4  Congressional delegation, and in particular,

          5  Congressman Nydia Velazquez, who is with us today,

          6  for keeping this issue alive and present in people's

          7  minds.  Other residents, other elected officials

          8  might have just become beaten down by the shear

          9  amount of time that has transpired and the shear

         10  amount of  --  I don't know if the right word is

         11  opposition  --  but the shear amount of things being

         12  stuck that has occurred, and we really want to do

         13  everything we can to support the work of

         14  Congressmember Velazquez to get us to the point

         15  where we have answers, where we have a plan, where

         16  we have a coordinated plan and anything the Council

         17  can do as it relates to oversight  --  Because one

         18  of the things that has happened is this one blames

         19  that one, this one says it's the other one's

         20  responsibility, and no agency at the end of the day

         21  really has the buck stopping with them.  So to the

         22  degree to which we can help overcome that is why

         23  we're here, and if we need to, we'll have more

         24  oversight hearings on this topic and do what we can

         25  to support Congressmember Velazquez, to support the
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          2  local residents to get the answers that are

          3  deserved.

          4                 I want to also note that we've been

          5  joined by a representative from Congressmember

          6  Anthony Weiner's office.  I want to thank them for

          7  being here with us today, and I also want to thank

          8  the Congressmember for his work on this matter as

          9  well.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

         12  Speaker, and without further ado, we would welcome

         13  Congresswoman Velazquez to the witness table.  Thank

         14  you very much for your great efforts on this very,

         15  very important issue.  You've seen it all.  You live

         16  there.  You represent the area, and we're very, very

         17  grateful for everything that you've done.  We look

         18  forward to your statement, and I just simply ask

         19  that you state your name for the record, and then

         20  begin your good testimony.

         21                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: Thank you,

         22  Chairman Gennaro, Council Speaker Christine Quinn

         23  and the Council for giving the opportunity to be

         24  here today, and on behalf of the Congressional

         25  district that I represent, the 12th Congressional
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          2  District, and the community of

          3  Greenpoint/Williamsburg, Queens that has been

          4  impacted by this tragedy, I want to thank the

          5  Speaker Christine Quinn and Chairman Gennaro for

          6  bringing to light, one more time, this pressing

          7  issue that is so important for those communities

          8  that have been suffering the consequences of this

          9  tragedy.

         10                 I would like to take a moment to

         11  explain how big a problem we have with the Newtown

         12  Creek oil spill.  It's bigger than Valdez.  The

         13  Coast Guard discovered the spill in 1979, and

         14  estimated that the oil companies left 17 million

         15  gallons of oil in the Creek area.

         16                 Now, we believe that estimate was

         17  actually low. There may have been 25 to 30 million

         18  gallons of oil when the spill was at its largest.

         19                 Environmental clean- up experts

         20  believe we will never be able to extract all of it.

         21  The oil plume still takes up some 55 acres.  The

         22  clean- up has not gone well by anyone's estimation.

         23  Equipment being used to remove the oil is strained.

         24  This unparalleled oil contamination has not

         25  significantly been contained even after all these
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          2  long years.  Few things frustrate me more than the

          3  oil companies' unwillingness to commit the resources

          4  necessary to fix the environmental mess they caused.

          5                 Today, I urge the Council Members to

          6  keep in mind that thousands of our fellow New

          7  Yorkers have been wronged here. The Newtown Creek

          8  community in Greenpoint and Queens is a proud and

          9  vibrant part of New York.  Although surrounded by

         10  water, families living in this area cannot enjoy

         11  their waterfront.  Families are worried and leery of

         12  what lies beneath.

         13                 This community, which contributes so

         14  much to our City, has to deal with Brownfields

         15  sites, the BQE, Williamsburg Bridge traffic, the

         16  largest sewage treatment plant, an expansive bus

         17  terminal, and high concentration of waste transfer

         18  stations. Add to this the Creek oil spill and you

         19  can see why residents suffer from asthma, emphysema

         20  and bronchitis at a 25 percent higher rate than the

         21  rest of the City.  Children and the elderly are

         22  particularly vulnerable.

         23                 This is not just an issue of a clean-

         24  up.  It is a matter of environmental justice.  The

         25  residents have a right to live in a community that

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  supports good public health.  The first step in that

          3  process is for the oil companies to take the

          4  responsibility for their actions.  They have an

          5  obligation to do what it takes to right the wrong

          6  they committed.  They continue to use the same

          7  excuses.  Exxon claims to be a good corporate

          8  citizen yet has decided to duck this public forum.

          9  Their absence today speaks volumes about their level

         10  of commitment to the well- being of the community

         11  they choose to work in.

         12                 2006 was worth $39.5 billion dollars

         13  in profits for Exxon, the most profitable year that

         14  any company has ever had.  New Yorkers pay an

         15  average of 3.26 per gallon of gas, and we will pay

         16  triple what we paid in 2001 for the cost of home

         17  heating oil this winter.  My colleagues, we know

         18  Exxon Mobil has the means to finance the clean- up.

         19  Even children know they have to clean up the mess

         20  they make.

         21                 I am also disappointed that the EPA

         22  has decided not to participate in this hearing.

         23  Recently, Congressman Weiner and I obtained federal

         24  funding so the EPA could study this problem and

         25  issue a comprehensive report.  The report raises

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  concerns about benzene vapors seeping onto people's

          3  property.  It reports that high levels of methane

          4  gas concentrations have been found during vapor

          5  intrusion sampling in some commercial

          6  establishments.  These levels were found to be above

          7  the Upper Explosive Limit.

          8                 In other words, EPA found some high

          9  vapor levels in local businesses.  EPA did not

         10  venture into private homes, such as those on

         11  Kingsland Avenue, Van Dam Street and Meeker Avenue.

         12  The State should complete this work.

         13                 The report also notes that new wells

         14  are needed to establish a better pace of removing

         15  oil contaminants from the Creek.  Those new wells

         16  should be installed immediately.

         17                 The report is a start, but research

         18  is still needed to determine the full extent of the

         19  damage and the true health impact, and I will

         20  welcome the City Council to instruct the City Health

         21  Department to conduct a study about the extent of

         22  the damage and the true health impact of this oil

         23  spill in home and families in that area.

         24                 The EPA has told us that people

         25  should not fish or swim in the Newtown Creek until
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          2  it is deemed safe.  This warning underscores the

          3  need for a comprehensive clean- up effort to render

          4  the Creek healthy for use.

          5                 In proceeding, Exxon Mobil cannot be

          6  allowed to take a haphazard approach to this clean-

          7  up.  Between early March and late June, Exxon

          8  stopped using most of its pumping recovery wells

          9  citing uncertainty about litigation and State

         10  permits.  The stop of the clean- up of even a few

         11  weeks increases the likelihood that new seepage will

         12  further contaminate this community.

         13                 We cannot tolerate this tactic.

         14  Exxon's lawyer should not be using the threat of

         15  clean- up stoppage as a courtroom negotiating

         16  tactic.  If an oil company tries this again, the

         17  full force of local, state and federal law should be

         18  brought to bear.

         19                 Aside from oil companies, the State

         20  must also play a key role in spurring the clean- up.

         21    With a new Governor, we have an opportunity to

         22  establish better environmental conditions for

         23  communities like Greenpoint and Queens.  The new

         24  Administration should take steps to direct the State

         25  Department of Environmental Control to prioritize
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          2  the Newtown Creek clean- up in the years to come.

          3                 The City Council can play a critical

          4  role.  The State, through the New York State DEC,

          5  has the lead role in spurring clean- up efforts, but

          6  City environmental and health agencies can provide

          7  support for the State's efforts.  For instance, City

          8  experts keeping track of local health trends can

          9  help show that the oil spill has real consequences

         10  and impacts people's health every day.  Also, the

         11  City can help make sure that signage warning people

         12  not to swim or fish in the water is visible. Aside

         13  from signage, the Council can prioritize other

         14  efforts to keep people who live near the Creek

         15  informed.

         16                 More importantly than anything else,

         17  oversight and public pressure is needed here.  I

         18  urge the City Council and the Speaker to use the

         19  power of your office to get the State agencies, the

         20  City agencies and bring the federal government

         21  together so that we could coordinate a better

         22  effort.

         23                 The people of this community are

         24  tired.  They're tired of promises that have been

         25  made and not kept.  The children are suffering, and
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          2  the elderly are suffering.  We owe this community

          3  this type of commitment.

          4                 In closing, I would like to remind

          5  everyone that Newtown Creek's neighborhoods are full

          6  of working families and small businesses.  Today,

          7  you will hear from concerned citizens from my

          8  district.  Let's keep their health both physical and

          9  economic in mind.

         10                 I commend you for holding this

         11  hearing and encouraging us to stay focused on the

         12  key issues, how to protect the health and safety of

         13  the people living and working near Newtown Creek,

         14  how to keep the clean- up moving forward, and how to

         15  learn from this oil spill as we design good

         16  environmental health policy for our City.  Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         19  Congresswoman Velazquez, and we really appreciate

         20  your getting the money for the study, and your vital

         21  role in catalyzing the different levels of

         22  government, people within the community, Exxon

         23  Mobil, the role that your playing in catalyzing what

         24  we hope will be more progress and quicker progress

         25  on this.
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          2                 First, before I have my questions, I

          3  wish to recognize Speaker Quinn for questions and

          4  comments.  Speaker Quinn.

          5                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.  More

          6  comments than questions, but let me just say

          7  Congressmember on the suggestions around the

          8  Department of Health and getting them to do some

          9  type of probably baseline study but then ongoing

         10  tracking, I think that's an excellent idea.

         11  Chairperson Gennaro and I will reach out to Joel

         12  Rivera who Chairs our Health Committee and then

         13  together the three of us reach out to Commissioner

         14  Frieden and other folks in DOH to start a dialogue

         15  about that, and then follow- up with your office and

         16  other offices because I think obviously the

         17  Department of Health has the ability to do that.

         18  They've done it in other areas, and this would, I

         19  think, be a very appropriate type of trafficking for

         20  them to undertake.  So one, we understand what the

         21  impact is actually having on people, and two, I

         22  think that information would make all of our jobs,

         23  particularly your job, easier in Washington as

         24  you're focusing to try to get the EPA to pay more

         25  attention.  So we will do that this week, and then
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          2  follow up with your office after we hear back from

          3  the Commissioner of Health.

          4                 I just wanted to ask one particular

          5  question  -- Let me just say also this signs  --

          6  the no swimming  --  those signs we'll follow- up

          7  with  --  I think Department of Health does those

          8  signs, not Parks and Recreation.  So we'll follow-

          9  up with the Department of Health about those

         10  immediately.  One to make sure that they are there,

         11  and two, to make sure that they stay up and are

         12  visible.  So one thing that might be helpful is if

         13  we could just get a list from your office is there's

         14  like particular spots you think the sign should be

         15  on, and then we'll make sure that we go out with the

         16  Department of Health, with your office, to make sure

         17  they're in the most visible locations.

         18                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: Thank you.

         19  We'll do that.

         20                 SPEAKER QUINN: Absolutely.  The

         21  suggestion that the new wells should be installed

         22  immediately, the ones that weren't, do you know

         23  whose jurisdiction that would fall under, whether

         24  that would be the State or the City?

         25                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: My guess
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          2  would be the State.

          3                 SPEAKER QUINN: That would be my guess

          4  too, and they're nodding their heads so okay.

          5  Great.  Thank you very much Congressmember, and you

          6  know the things we outline in today's hearing will

          7  be a couple of the follow- up steps, but sadly,

          8  given the size of what we're talking about here, and

          9  how long it's not been taken care of, it'll

         10  obviously be more than even we come up today.  Thank

         11  you, Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

         13  Speaker.  I just want to follow- up also with regard

         14  to the role that government has played, or not

         15  played over the last decades in getting this clean-

         16  up to happen.  I think that people naturally rely on

         17  government regulators to make sure that people who

         18  are polluting the environment are called to task and

         19  clean- up their mess.  I guess the main government

         20  instrument that has been sort of put in place to

         21  make sure this happens is the consent order that

         22  exists between the State DEC and Exxon Mobil.  Now,

         23  of course, we have a new DEC in place.  We have

         24  Suzanne Mattei who is here, and we're grateful to

         25  not only have her today, but have her in that job.
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          2  It's a whole new breath of fresh air, and one knows

          3  Suzanne for all of her years of great environmental

          4  work.  What is your assessment of the pre- Suzanne

          5  Mattei State DEC and them doing everything they

          6  could to write a strict enough consent order?

          7  Because once you have the consent order, all Exxon

          8  Mobil has to do to like be off the hook so to speak

          9  is to follow the consent order.  To your knowledge,

         10  has Exxon Mobil lived up to the consent order that's

         11  been put forward by the State, and has the State

         12  been vigorous enough in putting forward a consent

         13  order that's tough enough to get the job done.

         14                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: Well I

         15  don't really know all of the details of the consent

         16  order agreement.  What I tell you is that based on

         17  our own experience in dealing with the State in

         18  terms of enforcing the consent agreement, and my

         19  office reaching out to the State DEC, we just

         20  haven't seen that they have used everything they can

         21    --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The State you

         23  mean.  You know DEC, yes.

         24                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: The State

         25  to force Exxon Oil to do the right thing on behalf
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          2  of the clean- up.  I hope that with this new

          3  administration not only that they do a better job of

          4  enforcing, but also they do a better job at

          5  coordinating the different agencies that working

          6  together and with the community on local elected

          7  officials to keep us informed.

          8                 If there is a role for any level of

          9  government to play, we need to know.  It has been

         10  quite frustrating, and I want to keep hope alive

         11  with this new Administration that on behalf of the

         12  people, we own them this much that we all work

         13  together to make sure that we can expedite this

         14  clean- up.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         16                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: First, this

         17  company has so much money to use the newest

         18  technology that they can afford, and they haven't

         19  used, to expedite this clean- up.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Well one

         21  thing that we're going to be talking to State, when

         22  they come to testify, is the consent order that

         23  exists now between the State and Exxon Mobil whether

         24  they believe that's tough enough, what possibility

         25  there may be to make it tougher.  I guess we'll find
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          2  out whether or not the State can, once it deems it's

          3  appropriate to do so, based on new technology, based

          4  on new findings, or whatever, to update and upgrade

          5  the consent order to make it a little tougher to get

          6  this clean- up a little faster.  Something that

          7  we'll certainly probe the State on.

          8                 I think it's probably unlikely to

          9  expect Exxon Mobil, or any other entity, including

         10  the City of New York itself, which has a lot of

         11  consent orders against it  --  It's probably

         12  unlikely that any entity that's under a consent

         13  order will go beyond what's in the consent order.  I

         14  think that would be not something that anyone would

         15  expect as much as we would like it.  So I think we

         16  have to turn our focus on government regulators to

         17  make sure that they're using a sharp enough knife to

         18  make them do everything that they can reasonably do

         19  under the circumstances.

         20                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: If I may,

         21  Mr. Chairman, I think we need to use the public

         22  pressure, and public relations to embarrass a

         23  company that, to our belief, has not done enough,

         24  and if they could the millions of dollars that they

         25  can spend to have the best technology, to do
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          2  drilling in all the parts of the world, they could

          3  use the same type of money to employ the best

          4  technologies that they can afford to expedite this

          5  clean- up.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: There are

          7  experts, I am confident.  We have a growing vibrant

          8  sort of green industry here in New York City.  We

          9  have environmental engineers that would have the

         10  capability, I would think, to make this happen

         11  quicker rather than longer.  And I 100 percent agree

         12  that to the extent that we can legally bring

         13  pressure to bear on people to get a consent order

         14  that'll really get the job done, and then hold their

         15  feet to the fire to make sure they do that is all

         16  part of the effort, and we're grateful that you're

         17  playing such a key role.

         18                 I have one more question before I

         19  turn it over to some of my colleagues.  You mention

         20  in your statement about how the EPA, through the

         21  study, went into businesses, but didn't go into

         22  homes.  Can you talk a little bit about why they did

         23  it that way because it would seem to me that that

         24  would have been a critical thing to do and a real

         25  missed opportunity?
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          2                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: They

          3  basically didn't give any rationale, and they say

          4  that it was not within the scope of the language

          5  that was passed.  You could interpret the language

          6  any way you want, but we wanted to get to the facts

          7  about health impact for the communities, and in

          8  order to do that I believe that it was correct to

          9  not only do the study on the businesses, but also on

         10  residents.  This is what I suggest that maybe the

         11  City agency, the Health Department, can finish the

         12  job that was not completed by U.S. EPA.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14  Thank you, Congresswoman.  I'd like to point out

         15  that we're joined by Council Member Yassky, Council

         16  Member Recchia, both of Brooklyn.

         17                 The Speaker has a follow- up comment,

         18  or questions. I recognize Speaker Quinn.

         19                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.  I mean

         20  just two things on the EPA.  Maybe that is how they

         21  interpreted it, but I'm sure there was nothing that

         22  prohibited them from going further then their

         23  interpretation so they could've just realized it was

         24  a smart and correct thing to do.

         25                 One thing I was thinking of while you
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          2  were testifying and answering questions is we can

          3  pretend that what happened here is the last time is

          4  something like this is going to happen, but just

          5  over the weekend, we heard reports of an oil spill

          6  out by the Jones Beach area, out in Long Island.  So

          7  what we don't want  --  I mean we don't these type

          8  of oil spills to happen, but if they do,

          9  unfortunately, what we don't want is the way the

         10  State has acted here to be the precedent for other

         11  types of spills and other clean- ups because it just

         12  has been unsatisfactory at best.

         13                 What we have done, and what we can

         14  now change, as it relates to this situation is

         15  important beyond Brooklyn because it will be

         16  important to set a precedent for the folks out in

         17  Long Island so nobody can really pass the buck

         18  there, and not do the clean- up there efficiently

         19  either.  So I just think it's important for all of

         20  us to note that the most important thing is to get

         21  the wrong in this neighborhood righted, but it also

         22  is really important we don't let this precedent

         23  stand on the books as the way that New York State

         24  deals with oil spills in its jurisdiction.  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

          3  Speaker.

          4                 I'd like to take this opportunity to

          5  thank the Speaker in a special way who really in

          6  talking about this issue, this is a situation that

          7  troubles her deeply.  She very, very much wanted

          8  this hearing to happen, to have it happen soon.  We

          9  can't turn a blind eye when people are suffering,

         10  and have been suffering for years.  So thank you,

         11  Madam Speaker, for being one of the key

         12  inspirations.

         13                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you very much,

         14  and thank you for doing it so quickly.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You bet.

         16                 SPEAKER QUINN: One of the good parts

         17  of being the Speaker is I asked you do this, and you

         18  said yes, and did it quickly.  Then you're going to

         19  have to stay until the end, and I'm going to leave

         20  before it's over.  So I just want to apologize for

         21  that as well, but thank you.

         22                 Really asking Jim Gennaro to do a

         23  quick hearing on this, and asking him to do it

         24  quickly in a way that really focuses on

         25  environmental justice is about the easiest job
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          2  somebody could ever have as Speaker because when

          3  it's about environmental justice, Jim Gennaro always

          4  says yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

          6  Speaker.  I also was here at the last hearing in

          7  1997.  Who was here at the 1997 hearing?  Stanley

          8  Michaels was Chair of the Committee at the time.  We

          9  had Officer Cline (phonetic) from the Coast Guard

         10  who testified.  I still remember his name.  He

         11  spelled it Cline, a different spelling, and so I

         12  just remember that.  It's amazing the things that

         13  accumulate in your brain, and just stay there.

         14                 Okay, it's my honor and pleasure to

         15  recognize Council Member Yassky, who has been a

         16  champion on this issue, and has a question, or

         17  comment.  Councilman Yassky.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well thank

         19  you.  Just first I want to thank you Chair Gennaro

         20  and Speaker Quinn for doing this hearing.  I think

         21  there's really no environmental issue in the City

         22  that more needs factual probing than this oil spill,

         23  and for this Committee to take this on I think is a

         24  great thing.  So thank you for doing it.  I want to

         25  thank Congresswoman Velazquez who has done more than
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          2  anybody I can think of to get this issue on the

          3  federal agenda, and the study that you ensured, I

          4  think will prove to be a turning point.  It hasn't

          5  quite yet although it's already sparked some

          6  response from Exxon, not, of course, nearly what's

          7  called for, but it has already.  I that will really

          8  be a turning point in this. So I just want to thank

          9  you on behalf of our mutual constituents who are

         10  here on this.

         11                 Will DEP, Mr. Chair, be testifying?

         12  I know they're represented here.  DEC, I apologize.

         13  DEC, I see they're represented.  Okay then I can

         14  save my questions.  I think there are important

         15  questions to be asked about the history here with

         16  DEC that we can address.  I am very hopeful, as you

         17  said in your statement, Congressman, that under the

         18  new leadership, I have tremendous confidence in the

         19  Commissioner and the Regional Commissioner that we

         20  will see some real progress from DEC on this. So I

         21  will reserve my question.

         22                 I will say I'm assuming that Exxon

         23  was invited to testify.  Is that right?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Exxon Mobil
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          2  was invited to testify, and they declined.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I think, Mr.

          5  Chair, I will just suggest that you think about, and

          6  it would be a serious step, but whether a subpoena

          7  is in order because for a company to leave the

          8  biggest environmental mess in New York City's

          9  history behind and refuse to come and speak publicly

         10  to explain their negligence I just think is

         11  unacceptable, and I think that's a step worth

         12  considering.  I just throw that out to you, Mr.

         13  Chair.  That will be for another day, but there are

         14  serious questions here that they have got to answer.

         15    They are doing everything they can to avoid having

         16  to answer them in a court of law.  They should

         17  compelled to answer them here in the court of public

         18  opinion.  So I just will say that, but I will

         19  reserve my questions for DEC.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Yassky.  With that said,  --

         22                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: Mr.

         23  Chairman, if I may?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         25                 CONGRESSMEMBER VELAZQUEZ: I just want
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          2  to publicly acknowledge the great work and

          3  commitment and the leadership of Council Member

          4  Yassky who has been working with the communities

          5  impacted and myself and other elected officials from

          6  that area.  I also would love to endorse the idea of

          7  issuing a subpoena to Exxon Oil Company to bring

          8  them here so that they could not only answer

          9  questions about the facts of the spill, but more

         10  importantly, if they have revisited what they are

         11  doing in light of the study of EPA.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 SPEAKER QUINN: Right after David

         14  asked the question, I just Blackberried our General

         15  Counsel.  I don't remember us ever subpoenaing a

         16  private company, but the research has begun to see

         17  what our power is in that area.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

         19  you, once again, Councilman for being here.  We're

         20  very grateful to you.

         21                 Our next witness, Regional Director

         22  Suzanne Mattei, Region 2, DEC.  I believe she has

         23  some colleagues who are going to be testifying with

         24  her, Martin Brand, who is works out of Albany, it

         25  would seem here.
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          2                 MS. MATTEI: I'll introduce them.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, fine.  Okay.

          4    Great.  That will save me from having to decipher

          5  some of this.  Suzanne, I'll call you Suzanne.

          6  We've known each other so many years.  I want to

          7  thank you and your team for being here.  We're

          8  gratified to have you, and with that said, we're

          9  eager to hear your testimony.  I'd just like to

         10  point out that we're joined by Oliver Koppell, a

         11  valued member of the Committee.  With that, we look

         12  forward to hearing your testimony.  So we welcome

         13  you  Please state your name for the record, and

         14  commence your good testimony.

         15                 Thank you.  My name is Suzanne

         16  Mattei. I'm the Regional Director for the New York

         17  State Department of Environmental Conservation.  I

         18  want to express my thanks to Speaker Christine

         19  Quinn, and to you Council Member Gennaro for calling

         20    --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You can call me

         22  Jim if you want.  I called you Suzanne.  You can

         23  call me Jim.  It's okay.

         24                 MS. MATTEI: Okay, Jim  --  for

         25  inviting us to testify at this hearing.  First of
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          2  all, I just want to say very clearly anytime you are

          3  holding a hearing on an issue where we have a role,

          4  we will be here.  We will always come to a public

          5  hearing on an issue where we have a role and

          6  information that we can share.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now that calls

          8  for applause I think.  We certainly did get that in

          9  the previous Administration. So thank you for that.

         10  We're very grateful for that.

         11                 MS. MATTEI: I also want to say that

         12  our office is open for phone calls from Council

         13  Members.  Our Commissioner, Pete Grannis, is a

         14  former Assemblyman.  He understands how important it

         15  is for elected officials to have information about

         16  what's going on in their districts, and we have one-

         17  stop shopping special Assistant Tony Morenzi

         18  (phonetic) fields all questions, gets answers to you

         19  promptly.  So that is our goal to be very open as an

         20  agency.

         21                 On this particular issue, my feeling

         22  is the more public visibility for this issue the

         23  better.  We are committed to lay on the legal

         24  pressure, but there's no substitute for the value of

         25  public pressure.  So we're very happy that this

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  hearing is being held.  We're also happy that

          3  Congressmembers and Velazquez and Weiner engaged the

          4  Environmental Protection Agency.  I'm sorry that

          5  they are not here personally to testify, but I do

          6  want the Congressmember to know that our agency did

          7  reach out directly to the EPA.  Our technical people

          8  have met with their technical people, and we've got

          9  that dialogue going.  So this is a good thing.  This

         10  is progress, and it is important especially since we

         11  know that the clean- up of this spill will become

         12  more and more technically complex as we go along.

         13  As the easy stuff gets done and the harder stuff

         14  presents itself, we're going to want to have all the

         15  technical expertise and input that we can get.  So

         16  we're very happy about that.

         17                 With me today are DEC technical

         18  experts, Martin Brand, who is a Senior Engineering

         19  Geologist, and Project Manager for the Newtown Creek

         20  Remediation Project.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Which one is Mr.

         22  Brand?

         23                 MS. MATTEI: Okay.  Edward Hampston,

         24  he's our secret weapon.  He came in in 2005, and

         25  really put a shot in the arm to the effort on the
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          2  Exxon oil spill.  He is a Senior Environmental

          3  Engineer, and Project Engineer for the Greenpoint

          4  Petroleum Remediation Project, and he's a very gusty

          5  guy who stands up to whole room full of Exxon army

          6  people.  So I'm very impressed with the work that he

          7  does.  Selvin Southwell is our Deputy Regional Water

          8  Engineer for DEC Region 2 because this is not only a

          9  remediation, it's also a water quality issue.  Also,

         10  I have with me Eugene Leff, Attorney General's

         11  Office.  He is an advisory capacity to me today

         12  because we are, after all, his client in the

         13  litigation.

         14                 My testimony today will focus on the

         15  Greenpoint Petroleum Remediation Project, and the

         16  condition of Newtown Creek and the actions needed to

         17  improve its water quality.

         18                 Newtown Creek is a tidal waterway

         19  just over three and half miles in length.  It

         20  extends along the boundaries between Brooklyn and

         21  Queens to the East River.  The total drainage area

         22  of the Creek and its tributaries encompasses over

         23  10,000 acres.  This area is drained almost entirely

         24  by combined storm water and sanitary sewers.  There

         25  is no fresh water flow into the Creek today other
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          2  than storm water and combined sewer overflow during

          3  wet weather.

          4                 In its original natural state,

          5  Newtown Creek was shallower.  It has sloping banks.

          6  It was dredged years ago to accommodate shipping.

          7  Today its banks are mostly shored up by retaining

          8  walls.  As a result of heavy industrialization,

          9  leading to groundwater contamination and toxic

         10  runoff, Newtown Creek is among the more polluted

         11  waterways in America.

         12                 DEC currently classifies it as Class

         13  SD.  The highest usage of such water is for fishing

         14  and fish survival, but not for swimming or other

         15  contact recreation, and not for fish propagation.

         16  The water quality problems include low dissolved

         17  oxygen, odors and floatables.  Also the sediments on

         18  the Creek bottom are contaminated with PCBs, heavy

         19  metals such as lead, mercury and copper, and, of

         20  course, petroleum hydrocarbons.  So to improve the

         21  Creek's water quality, we're going to have to

         22  consider a range of pollution sources including oil

         23  storage facilities, manufacturing plants, inactive

         24  hazardous waste sites, spills, combined sewer

         25  overflows, and the like.
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          2                 The most well know source of

          3  contamination, of course, is the large underground

          4  oil spill that we often call the Exxon Mobil, or

          5  Greenpoint Oil Spill.  We did hold a public meeting

          6  in Greenpoint on October 16th of this year, in which

          7  we responded to many questions about the spill and

          8  the clean- up process.  DEC Commissioner Pete

          9  Grannis, who was appointed by Governor Spitzer, has

         10  made cleaning up this oil spill a high priority.

         11                 DEC had reached a clean- up agreement

         12  in the past with Exxon Mobil, but it was limited.

         13  It only required remediation of the liquid petroleum

         14  generally known as free product.  A more

         15  comprehensive approach that includes investigation

         16  and remediation of soil contamination, and also the

         17  petroleum constituents that have dissolved into the

         18  water is needed as well as expediting, speeding up

         19  the recovery of the liquid petroleum.  DEC technical

         20  experts put together the scientific grounds for a

         21  lawsuit against Exxon Mobil, and worked with State

         22  Attorney General Andrew Cuomo to prepare the case.

         23  The lawsuit, brought by Attorney General Cuomo on

         24  behalf of the citizens of our state and DEC

         25  Commissioner Grannis as trustee for New York's
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          2  natural resources, was filed on July 17th, 2007.  We

          3  are strongly committed to this joint effort.  We are

          4  working together with the State Attorney General to

          5  expedite the clean- up.

          6                 One question that has  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me,

          8  Suzanne.  If I could, and it's usually not my way to

          9  interrupt a statement, but I have a question that

         10  would help me a little bit.  I just want to

         11  understand a little bit about this.  I'm not an

         12  attorney.  Exxon Mobil was under this the same

         13  consent order that it was always under to take away

         14  the free product, right?

         15                 MS. MATTEI: Let's see.  The consent

         16  order was 1990. Wasn't it?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         18                 MS. MATTEI: So the consent order was

         19  1990, and that's  --  There are actually two consent

         20  orders.  One for on- site remediation, and one for

         21  off- site.  So we have these pumping systems to suck

         22  the petroleum out of the ground essentially, but the

         23  concern was that this spill was more than just free

         24  floating petroleum, and we have to go beyond that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: My question is
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          2  when you sue somebody, you want them to do something

          3  that they're not doing, or that did something wrong,

          4  or whatever.  Now the lawsuit contends that Exxon

          5  Mobil didn't live up to the consent order, or what's

          6  the basis in, kind of, layman's terms.  I mean I'm a

          7  geologist myself. I'm not an attorney.  So I'm more

          8  in league with you guys for technical stuff, but I

          9  mean what is sort of like the seminal issue of the

         10  lawsuit?

         11                 MS. MATTEI: Well the lawsuit brings

         12  in a variety of jurisdictions.  What it does is it

         13  invokes several federal laws as well as State laws.

         14  So the lawsuit is brought under the Resource

         15  Conservation Recovery Act, under the Comprehensive

         16  Environmental Remediation  --  whatever it is  --

         17  the superfund law, the Oil Pollution Act, and a

         18  variety of other statutes.  So the Attorney

         19  General's Office did a Notice of Intent to Sue, and

         20  then we were able to bring all of these claims under

         21  federal law.  So I would say is what we did was we

         22  brought more legal firepower to the effort, and also

         23  we brought in the additional issues of contamination

         24  that weren't within the scope of the first consent

         25  order.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Because

          3  up until then you were acting as a State regulator

          4  with limited powers so to speak.  Am I saying this

          5  right?  Then you were telling them that they have to

          6  clean this up, but it was thought that a broader

          7  federally- based approach  --

          8                 MS. MATTEI: We needed to get more

          9  aggressive.  We just needed to get more aggressive.

         10  We needed to get at the other aspects of the

         11  contamination that weren't within the scope of that

         12  first consent order, and obviously I wasn't with the

         13  agency when that first consent order was developed.

         14  It had a lot of good requirements in it, but this

         15  problem was very complex, and we needed more

         16  firepower, and we needed to broaden the scope of

         17  that consent order to really get the full job done.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just wanted to

         19  get a sense of the rationale behind the lawsuit.

         20                 MS. MATTEI: And also we needed to get

         21  at the damages that have occurred to the natural

         22  resources.  That's another piece of the lawsuit.

         23  It's not only to get them to clean- up the problem

         24  that has occurred, but also to address the fact that

         25  they've damaged state public trust resources.
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          2  They've damaged Newtown Creek.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  All

          4  right.  I'm good. I just wanted to clear that up.

          5                 MS. MATTEI: It's worth it to do it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Thank

          7  you.

          8                 MS. MATTEI: Definitely.  So one

          9  question that has received a lot of attention lately

         10  is the volume of the spill. Because this is an

         11  underground oil spill, no one can measure it with

         12  complete accuracy.  The U.S. Coast Guard estimated

         13  its size at 17 million gallons.  While a recent

         14  report by the EPA observes the estimates have ranged

         15  from 17 million to 30 million gallons, EPA actually

         16  has not endorsed any particular estimate.  The

         17  monitoring data on the spill's depth and location,

         18  as well as modeling, suggests that a 17 million

         19  gallon estimate is reasonable.  It could very well

         20  be more than that, but what's most important for

         21  clean- up purposes is not so much the spill's

         22  volume, but its footprint, where it is, how far it

         23  has spread, and that's why State DEC demanded that

         24  Exxon Mobil pay for testing to identify the spill's

         25  footprint.
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          2                 There's over 300 monitoring points

          3  that are evaluated on a quarterly basis.  We've got

          4  good information on where clean- up must occur, and

          5  so clean- up is going to continue regardless of

          6  estimates of volume.  We're not going to say well

          7  we've reached 17 million gallons.  Let's go home.

          8  We're going to keep on pumping until the actual

          9  tests show that the hazard has been properly abated.

         10                 A good piece of news, I would say an

         11  encouraging piece of news is that the indoor air

         12  investigation, which was conducted jointly by DEC

         13  and the State Department of Health, hasn't shown any

         14  current evidence of vapor intrusion from the Exxon

         15  Mobil oil spill into the homes that were tested, and

         16  we thank the local residents who responded to the

         17  request for volunteers because it's not an easy

         18  thing to do.  I mean it is a pretty serious matter

         19  to allow people to come in to your home and test

         20  your air, and we were grateful for the people who

         21  cooperated.  We did it during the winter heating

         22  season when it would be easiest to actually detect

         23  the indoor vapors.  We did that in the winter

         24  heating season of 2006 to '07.  No evidence of the

         25  kind of pollution vapors that could be linked to the
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          2  oil spill were identified.  There will be further

          3  scrutiny of the potential for vapor intrusion to

          4  ensure the continued safety of residents, but the

          5  oil spill obviously needs to be cleaned up.  Whether

          6  we're finding vapor intrusion, or not, we have to

          7  clean it up.  There's evidence that it seeped into

          8  Newtown Creek, and although the fact that the 52

          9  homes didn't show oil spill vapor intrusion is

         10  encouraging, it still poses a continuing concern

         11  that must be addressed.

         12                 DEC has been working cooperatively

         13  with Health and with the Attorney General's Office

         14  to expedite that clean- up, and as I mentioned

         15  before, we also welcome the federal EPA's

         16  involvement.  We have reached out and engaged with

         17  them.

         18                 I want to make sure you know that

         19  Exxon Mobil has applied for a wastewater discharge

         20  permit in connection with increased pumping for the

         21  oil spill remediation work as required by law, and

         22  this is something that is different from how things

         23  were done in the past.  In the past, they had what

         24  they called permit equivalencies pursuant to a

         25  consent order, and you didn't have the public input
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          2  that you get when it's an SPDES permit.  So that is

          3  an important change.  The permit application is

          4  complete.  It was noticed for public comment on

          5  November 15th, and the deadline for public comments

          6  is December 14th.

          7                 Other industrial sites on or near the

          8  Creek have contributed contamination as well.

          9  Several sites are currently being investigated or

         10  remediated under a variety of state and federal

         11  regulatory programs.  These include the former

         12  Keyspan/Brooklyn Union Gas Company  --  that's a

         13  manufactured gas plant  --  the B.C.F. Oil Refinery

         14  site in Brooklyn, the former Paragon Oil Terminal

         15  site in Brooklyn, the former Phelps Dodge/Laurel

         16  Hill smelter in Queens  Remediation is underway at

         17  some of these sites already.  At the former Paragon

         18  Oil Terminal, for example, Chevron Corporation

         19  installed a barrier to block seepage of petroleum

         20  into Newtown Creek, and wells to recover petroleum

         21  from the ground, but obviously more analysis is

         22  needed to identify further strategies to stop

         23  seepage of oil into the Creek, and those are

         24  underway.  Considerable scientific analysis is going

         25  to be required to determine the most effective
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          2  clean- up measures for Newtown Creek, but DEC is

          3  strongly committed to move forward expeditiously

          4  with this effort and to do it in a way that's as

          5  comprehensive as possible, and coordinated as

          6  possible.

          7                 DEC is also concerned about reducing

          8  sewage and run off pollution into Newtown Creek.

          9  While 29 industrial and construction sources have

         10  permits, a substantial source of the discharge is

         11  from uncontrolled storm water and sewer drainage.

         12  Twenty combined sewer overflow outfalls, over 100

         13  points of storm water discharge  --  It's estimated

         14  that over 1.4 billion gallons of combined sewer

         15  overflow is discharged to the Creek every year.

         16  That's a lot.  Much of it contains some

         17  contaminates, oil, grease, coliform bacteria, even

         18  solid waste, and even the Newtown Creek Sewage

         19  Treatment Plant, even though it primarily discharges

         20  to the East River, on rare occasions, it overflows,

         21  during rain conditions, into Whale Creek Canal,

         22  which is one of the tributaries of Newtown Creek.

         23                 So under a 2005 Administrative Order

         24  on Consent between DEC and the City Department of

         25  Environmental Protection, DEP has submitted a
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          2  Waterbody Watershed Facility Plan that when it's

          3  completed and approved, it's expected to implement

          4  measures to control floatables, improve storm water

          5  control, re- route sewers, aerate the Creek and

          6  tributaries to improve dissolved oxygen and address

          7  nuisance sediments at the CSO outfalls.  So we're

          8  reviewing this and eight other Waterbody Watershed

          9  plans pursuant to that order on consent.  Once we

         10  have completed the initial review and provided

         11  comments to DEP, then DEP and DEC will hold joint

         12  public meetings, and provide a public comment period

         13  before the plan can be approved, and we will welcome

         14  comments from members of the City Council.  We hope

         15  that you will also help us inform your interested

         16  constituents about the opportunity for public

         17  participation.

         18                 So we thank you for the opportunity

         19  to present this testimony, and we do look forward to

         20  your questions and comments.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         22  Suzanne, and I appreciate your statement.  On what

         23  the good people who are burdened by this spill could

         24  expect to happen over the short and longer term, the

         25  way I see this, and tell me if you think I'm getting
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          2  any of it wrong, we had the previous consent order

          3  that was limited to free product, and that was

          4  either limited based on that's what the State at the

          5  time thought they had the power to do, or that's

          6  what the people who were running DEC was reasonable

          7  at the time, or whatever, but now, in the new

          8  decade, like the new millennium, we know that we

          9  have to do better.  So this legal proceeding has

         10  been commenced out of which will come some new

         11  federally enforceable consent order, or consent

         12  order- like creature that will put this whole thing

         13  on a whole different track, and make it quicker.  Is

         14  that what these people can expect?  Is that what we

         15  hope to happen?

         16                 MS. MATTEI: Well the goal is to get a

         17  stronger clean- up plan, yes, a stronger, more

         18  expeditious, more complete clean- up process, and

         19  how that plays out depends on what happens. Whether

         20  it plays out through the court, whether there's some

         21  kind of negotiation, that depends, but that is what

         22  we're looking for is a better, stronger, more

         23  comprehensive plan.  But in the meantime, they are

         24  bound to do the work that they are supposed to be

         25  doing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  I'm

          3  getting to that.

          4                 MS. MATTEI: Nothing lets up.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  In terms

          6  of how we get from where we are now to this clean-

          7  up plan that we all know we need, that is something

          8  that lies outside the scope of what DEC can do on

          9  its own.  DEC obviously doesn't believe it has the

         10  ability through its authority to scrap the old

         11  consent order and get the new and improved consent

         12  order in there based on the authority that it has

         13  which is why you, in concert with the Attorney

         14  General, are doing this federally- based thing which

         15  is going to  --  Right?  Is that a way for me to

         16  look at it?

         17                 MS. MATTEI: I think that it would be

         18  difficult to simply re- write a consent order

         19  without invoking the bigger guns that we invoke

         20  through this lawsuit.  I think it would be hard.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         22                 MS. MATTEI: This is a better

         23  approach.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: David is paying

         25  close attention because he's a lawyer and he
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          2  understands these things, but so   -- Let me know

          3  how I'm doing here.

          4                 MS. MATTEI: David is also my Council

          5  Member.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, and a good

          7  one.

          8                 MS. MATTEI: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The way we get

         10  from where we are to where we need to be the best

         11  way to get there is through a legal proceeding and

         12  not through some kind of administrative action or

         13  something.  Anytime you're going into the arena,

         14  you're having a lawsuit.  There's going to be a lot

         15  of yelling and screaming, and at the end of the day

         16  in a lawsuit, it seems to me, that you could win, or

         17  you can lose, and to lose would be a bad thing.  So

         18  it would seem perhaps to people sitting in the

         19  audience like why doesn't government have the power

         20  through its own vested powers to make the right

         21  thing happen here.  You're confident, and your

         22  lawyer could answer if you want, that the best way

         23  to get this done is through this legal methodology

         24  by going to court.

         25                 MS. MATTEI: We think that it is the
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          2  best approach. It's the way to leverage  --  We've

          3  levering pressure on them for many years, but we

          4  need more tools, and this is the way to add more

          5  tools to the arsenal to leverage pressure to move

          6  this thing forward.  Quite frankly, I think that

          7  Exxon is already being more responsive.  We know

          8  that they are going to be putting in additional

          9  wells, and that's important.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Pursuant

         11  to the existing consent order, or are they just have

         12  agreed to do it?

         13                 MS. MATTEI: Pursuant to the existing

         14  order, they're putting in more wells.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let's talk about

         16  that.

         17                 MS. MATTEI: It's all about getting

         18  them to the table, keeping them at the table.  It's

         19  extremely important because there's always a desire

         20  to delay, there's always a desire to drag things

         21  out.  Whenever you're asking a large corporation to

         22  spend money, you're going to see that dynamic as an

         23  issue.  So it's just very, very important to keep

         24  the pressure on.  So, like I said, we put on the

         25  legal pressure.  We welcome the public pressure from
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          2  the community and from the Council.  You have to

          3  come at this from all angles to get where we want to

          4  go.  This is not an easy task.  This is one of the

          5  hardest clean- ups that's ever been undertaken, and

          6  it just takes an enormous amount of pressure to make

          7  it happen.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Has it

          9  been difficult to get Exxon Mobil to live up to the

         10  current consent order?  For example, if this

         11  administration of DEC, and the previous

         12  administration of DEC, had to give Exxon Mobil a

         13  grade of how it performed in meeting the

         14  requirements and milestones and mandates of the

         15  consent that is before it now, what kind of grade

         16  would it get?

         17                 MS. MATTEI: I've just been advised

         18  that that's something that I shouldn't comment on at

         19  this point.  So I think we'll just have to leave

         20  that one.  I won't be able to talk about that.  I'm

         21  not going to characterize their past behavior.  I

         22  will just say that we've been working awfully hard.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If the lawsuit

         24  is successful, and there is a successor consent

         25  agreement, or whatever it would be called.  Would it
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          2  still be called a consent agreement?

          3                 MS. MATTEI: It could be.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It could be, and

          5  that would be an instrument that would be

          6  enforceable by DEC, or how that work? How would the

          7  enforcement of the new thing work?

          8                 How am I doing, Dave?  Am I doing

          9  okay?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You're way

         11  over my head.

         12                 MS. MATTEI: It would be a consent

         13  assuming things go in certain ways.  It would be a

         14  consent decree that would be enforceable by the

         15  State through the court.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  I got

         17  that.  Regarding the indoor air investigation, that

         18  was a point I brought up when the Congresswoman was

         19  speaking that was an unfortunate lapse as that was

         20  not included in the federal study that was done, but

         21  you spoke of an indoor air probe that was done

         22  jointly by State DEC and the State Department of

         23  Health that didn't show, fortunately, any current

         24  evidence of vapor intrusion.  How did it come to be

         25  that you did this investigation, which I applaud,
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          2  and how has the news been received by local

          3  community?  I guess a question I could pose to them

          4  when they testify is do they agree with the finding.

          5    How's that going?

          6  First, how did it come to pass that you did the

          7  study, and how's it being received?  Do they believe

          8  it?

          9                 MS. MATTEI: The State Department of

         10  Health was really the lead on that study, so I think

         11  I'll defer to them to describe how it all came about

         12  and what it showed.  It's good to have good news

         13  rather than bad news.  I mean we're happy that we

         14  did not find vapors in these homes.  We were

         15  certainly not able to test all of the homes in the

         16  area so it's limited, but it's better to have good

         17  news than to have bad news.  So we were glad that it

         18  didn't show up in any of the homes.  That was

         19  helpful.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How many home

         21  were tested?

         22                 MS. MATTEI: Fifty- two homes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fifty- two, in

         24  over like a wide geographic area?

         25                 MS. MATTEI: It was not bad.  It was
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          2  spread out pretty well, but we would love to have

          3  had more homes to test, but as I said, it's a big

          4  deal for people to allow strangers to come in to

          5  their home and test their air, so we were grateful

          6  to the people who did.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: How much did it

          8  cost?

          9                 MS. MATTEI: You'd have to get that

         10  from the Health Department, I think.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 MS. MATTEI: I think the important

         13  thing, and this goes to the issue of everything, our

         14  agency is supposed to be in the business of

         15  prevention.  We're supposed to be in the business of

         16  stopping the harm before it occurs.  People

         17  shouldn't have to prove that they are sick.  To get

         18  help from us, they shouldn't have to prove that the

         19  stuff is already in their homes.  We should be

         20  cleaning up this oil spill.  We should be cleaning

         21  it up as fast as possible, and no one should have to

         22  prove anything for us to get this done.  The stuff

         23  is there, and it needs to get cleaned up period, end

         24  of story.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Here, here, but
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          2  I can't help but perceive that the consent order

          3  that was entered into in 1990, which this

          4  administration, of course, had nothing to do with

          5   -- 1990, right?

          6                 MS. MATTEI: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Had that been

          8  more vigorous, had that been more forceful, had it

          9  been more comprehensive than just being limited to

         10  free product  --  It seems like what happened was

         11  Exxon Mobil got perhaps like a very good deal with

         12  regard to that 1990 consent order, and based on the

         13  response, or non- response that I'm hearing today

         14  about they've performed since 1990, I suspect that

         15  they probably met a lot of those milestones,

         16  whatever, and were doing what it was asked to do.

         17  The question is that government didn't ask them to

         18  do enough back in 1990, and making up for that now

         19  with everything that you and your administration are

         20  trying to do.  Is that a fair statement?

         21                 MS. MATTEI: Well, again, I'm not

         22  going to comment on anything that has come before

         23  because of the litigation, but I will say that we're

         24  committed to step everything up, and that's really

         25  as much as I can say right now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, but the

          3  moral of the story is that those who hold the public

          4  trust, and are out there in the business to hold

          5  polluters accountable, really have to hold them

          6  accountable, which is what you're trying to do now.

          7  God bless you.

          8                 MS. MATTEI: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Had that always

         10  been the case, and in 1990 a more vigorous and

         11  comprehensive consent order, and not a deal that was

         12  perhaps a little to favorable to the oil company, it

         13  just seems to me that we're, on some level, making

         14  up in this administration, and with you good folks,

         15  for what didn't happen in 1990.  So I guess I wish

         16  you were there in 1990, but you're here now.  So

         17  that's my own sort of observation.

         18                 MS. MATTEI: But we also have a lot of

         19  good agency in our cooperation going on right now,

         20  which I think is very, very important to jump start

         21  this whole thing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         23                 MS. MATTEI: With the Attorney

         24  General's Office working with the Department, with

         25  the Health Department, with EPA's advice and
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          2  assistance, that's all very important.

          3                 This is not going to be easy.  We all

          4  know this. This is going to be a very, very hard

          5  clean- up to accomplish, and it's been hard all

          6  along, and it's only going to get harder.  So it

          7  will take a lot of commitment to make this happen,

          8  and continued public pressure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Let's

         10  look forward into the future a little bit.  So

         11  you've got a team of experts here, you've got a

         12  geologist, but can they find the eutectic point on a

         13  binary phase diagram for me?  Can they find that

         14  eutectic point? It's like geology speak here.

         15                 MS. MATTEI: I failed to warn them

         16  about your geology background.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm an insider.

         18  You've got to find that eutectic point where the

         19  pressure -  It's a whole thing. Just take a course

         20  in petrology, and you'll be right up to speed.

         21                 So let's just say the good guys get

         22  what they want, and we get sort of the ultimate

         23  consent that mandates that they do everything that's

         24  possible within the scope of the technology that

         25  exists in 2007, and we get that in place.  People
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          2  certainly would like to know.  If we get that, and

          3  we've removed all the legal obstacles, then it just

          4  becomes a scientific challenge, and a technological

          5  challenge, what are the prospects for full recovery

          6  of all the product, and how long would that take?

          7                 MS. MATTEI: I'm wondering if Ed would

          8  like to step in here to talk about that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Because up until

         10  now we've just been talking about legal, and

         11  lawyers, and consent decrees, and what not, but if

         12  we absolutely release the hounds, and get every

         13  technological advantage that Exxon Mobil's billions

         14  can finance, and we're to get that on the ground,

         15  then what would happen?  What would be your

         16  estimation of what would happen?

         17                 You've got to state your name for the

         18  record before you  --

         19                 MR. HAMPSTON: Edward Hampston.  It's

         20  very difficult to pinpoint  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Move it a little

         22  closer to your mouth.

         23                 MR. HAMPSTON:  --  An exact time

         24  period where we would say this is done, and even

         25  when we feel we've done everything technically
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          2  possible to recover petroleum and the contamination,

          3  there will still be a monitoring phase that's going

          4  to continue for an extensive period beyond that.  So

          5  even with all of the options and new technologies

          6  out there, we anticipate that there's going to be

          7  some type of remedial work going on, and in

          8  monitoring beyond that, at least 20 years in the

          9  future.  Now every day that we work, we're getting

         10  closer to the point where we'll deem the remediation

         11  complete, but it's an extended time that we really

         12  can't put an end date to at this time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, but let's

         14  just in real simple sixth grade terms, you've got

         15  the oil that's being retrieved from the ground at a

         16  rate of this.  Once we get everything we want, will

         17  the rate be that, or will it be just be only

         18  marginally improved of what we have now?  You must

         19  have some sense of the value- added that can be

         20  brought to bear by the technological fixes that you

         21  would like to see in place, 100 percent improvement,

         22  50 percent improvement, 20 percent improvement?  How

         23  much faster is faster?

         24                 MR. HAMPSTON: Well, again, it's very

         25  difficult because every step we take forward there's
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          2  also things that are working backwards on us.

          3  You'll have a recovery well that's been performing

          4  extremely well for a number of years, but you

          5  finally will pull in the contamination that's in the

          6  area of that well.  So that well won't be effective

          7  any longer, and we need these additional wells

          8  coming on- line to continue that same recovery rate.

          9    Roughly, I believe it was for 2006, we were

         10  recovering between 45,000 and 50,000 gallons a

         11  month.  The additional steps that Chevron completed

         12  to put a barrier up near the Creek, and begin

         13  recovery near the Creek, has roughly, in the

         14  preliminary phases of that work, added about 100

         15  gallons a day of recovery, but in the mean time,

         16  some of the wells have become less effective that we

         17  had.  The additional ten wells that are in the

         18  process of being installed, we really need to get

         19  them going, and find out what kind of recovery we'll

         20  have from them whether it would be at the upper

         21  range, or lower range of what we've experienced  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  So

         23  you're doing 45,000 to 50,000 a month, call it

         24  50,000, an extra 100 gallons a day times 30 is

         25                 MR. HAMPSTON: It's like 3,000 gallons
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          2  a month, or so.

          3                 MS. MATTEI: We're looking to see it

          4  speed up, but I think the most important  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's 30 times

          6  100?

          7                 MR. HAMPSTON: 3,000

          8                 MS. MATTEI: 3,000

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: 30,000, right?

         10  Thirty times 100 is 3,000.  So you're going from 50

         11  to 53.  Is that  --

         12                 MR. HAMPSTON: Roughly, that's what

         13  we've seen so far with this Chevron system, that

         14  it's roughly 3,000 gallons a month.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What I'm trying

         16  to get my hands around is there's the current state

         17  of affairs, which is unacceptable to you as

         18  regulators, and certainly not acceptable to the

         19  local community that's dealing with this and living

         20  with this, and it just seems that the estimate of

         21  what's technologically possible, if we could do

         22  whatever we wanted, it seems like the value- added

         23  that you get from the all the enhanced technology

         24  and everything is not what we would all like it to

         25  be.  Is that a fair statement?
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          2                 MS. MATTEI: It's going to be slow.  I

          3  think it's fair to say this is going to take many,

          4  many years.  We will speed it up by enhancing the

          5  process.  After we clean up the stuff that's easier

          6  to clean up and we have to start dealing with the

          7  soil contamination and the petroleum that's

          8  dissolved in the water, it's going to get harder,

          9  and they will probably be slower toward the end.  I

         10  think perhaps the difference is that under the

         11  existing consent orders, it would have been easier

         12  for Exxon to walk away sooner because the entire job

         13  would not be done because you would have walked away

         14  with the free product, but not dealt with the

         15  contaminated soil and the dissolved plume.  So I

         16  think that's a big piece of it.  We have to address

         17  the full job.  That's essential.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly I for

         19  that.

         20                 MS. MATTEI: I'm just being careful

         21  just because I know that in the past there have been

         22  estimates like it will be done in four years that

         23  were nonsense, and it was a false promise.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         25                 MS. MATTEI: We don't want to lie to
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          2  anybody about this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Here, here.  I'm

          4  for that. What I'm going to do now is I'm going to

          5  call upon Councilman Yassky, and I may, or may not

          6  come back with more questions of my own, but it's a

          7  pleasure to introduce David Yassky, and recognize

          8  him.  Councilman Yassky.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you so

         10  much, Chair Gennaro.  I appreciate your indulgence.

         11  As you know, I don't sit on this Committee, but the

         12  bulk of the plume  --  I wish it was the entire

         13  plume, but at this point, the plume is large enough

         14  that it's only the bulk of it  --  is in the

         15  district I represent.  So I do have a strong

         16  interest here, and I really appreciate the Chair's

         17  permitting me to participate here.

         18                 Ms. Mattei, first of all, thank you.

         19  What you said before about testifying, you know DEC

         20  coming and participating, I think really is

         21  monumental, and I just, as a Council Member, thank

         22  you for that.  I want to restate, I have just truly

         23  a complete confidence in Commissioner Grannis'

         24  leadership and your leadership of the region.  Your

         25  record on this  --  Nobody could look at your record
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          2  and not appreciate that you are going to do

          3  everything that you can in the interest of the

          4  environment in cleaning up the spill.  I know that

          5  you are, and so I certainly have a lot of criticism

          6  of DEC's previous actions on this.  Fair enough, and

          7  maybe we'll disagree even on this in the present,

          8  but I just do want to say again, as a Brooklynite,

          9  New Yorker, I couldn't be happier that you have the

         10  position you do, and Commissioner Grannis does.  So

         11  thank you for that.

         12                 Chair Gennaro, when he returns, I'll

         13  repeat this. He really, I thought, asked all the

         14  real questions.  I just maybe want to ask them again

         15  a little bit because I think that these are pretty

         16  critical questions.  Let me just understand first

         17  about the existing consent decree.  As it's been

         18  explained to me, and tell me if I'm wrong, there is

         19  no deadline, no fixed time table in this consent

         20  decree so that, in other words, there's no way for

         21  us to say Exxon Mobil is failing because it could be

         22  50 years from now and they will not have violated

         23  the consent decree.  Is that accurate?

         24                 MS. MATTEI: Yes, I think that's

         25  correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  I think

          3  when the Chair said Exxon Mobil got a very good

          4  deal, he was being judicious and appropriate.  I'm

          5  just going to be inappropriate and strident. They

          6  got a sweetheart deal.  I mean that is, to leave 17,

          7  maybe 30, million gallons of oil and have a consent

          8  decree that has no time table in it to me  --  that

          9  was 1980  --  that was just a real failure.

         10  Obviously, you're not here to be answerable for

         11  that, but now you I guess  --  and, again, thank

         12  goodness you are here to figure out how to deal with

         13  that, and I guess I feel that DEC's position has got

         14  to be that that's a totally unacceptable consent

         15  decree, and has got to be replaced with something

         16  real.  I heard you say that earlier today.  I just

         17  want to re- emphasize that.

         18                 MS. MATTEI: I guess I'd like to also

         19  comment. There's a great book called Everything I

         20  know I learned in Kindergarten, and one of the

         21  lessons that we learn in kindergarten that's talked

         22  about in that book is if you make a mess, you clean

         23  it up.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: This one is as

         25  simple as that.  They made a mess, and thankfully we
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          2  have great laws that the Congress has put in place

          3  that say they have to clean it up. That's now your

          4  job.

          5                 Chair Gennaro, I just want to say I

          6  thought you asked all the right questions.  I just

          7  want to thank you for that because your questions

          8  about well wait this consent decree is plainly

          9  inadequate is absolutely on the money.

         10                 The second question, too, I think,

         11  about what is a realistic time table, and I heard

         12  that you were reluctant to answer that.  I will

         13  submit to you, I think DEC has to have an answer to

         14  that, if not today, at some point, and I guess for

         15  the public because we've got to know what to hold

         16  Exxon Mobil accountable to. I'm no scientist, and no

         17  expert.  I do have the background that the Chair

         18  does.  I've tried to spend as much time as I

         19  possibly can talking with people who do, but we need

         20  you to say here is what is technologically feasible,

         21  and if that means it's eight years well okay maybe

         22  that's the answer.  If that mean it's four years

         23  then that's the answer.  If it's 15 years, or

         24  whatever, we do need to know what does DEC say is

         25  the technologically feasible time table for a clean-
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          2  up, and then we can say Exxon Mobil your job is to

          3  do. It's as simple as they made a mess.  They need

          4  to clean it up.  We need to know what that means,

          5  and I guess I would say, we need to hear what DEC

          6  has to say on that.

          7                 MS. MATTEI: All right.  I guess I

          8  would like say that the kinds of further analysis

          9  that have to be done about the contamination that I

         10  talked about that wasn't in the scope of that first

         11  consent order, that information will help us to

         12  develop a much clearer time table and time frame for

         13  the clean- up.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Fair enough.

         15  Is there a time table even on the so- called free

         16  product, on the oil itself, kind of liquid loose oil

         17  as opposed to contaminated soil?

         18                 MS. MATTEI: At this point, no.

         19  People have said very fuzzily things like 20 years,

         20  but no, we don't have a really sharp time table for

         21  that at this point.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, and then

         23  let me just ask a simple question, and the Chair was

         24  getting at this.  If the existing number of wells is

         25  50,000 gallons a month, does tripling the wells take
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          2  out 150,000 gallons a month?  Does quintupling them

          3  take out 250,000?

          4                 MS. MATTEI: Not necessarily.  It

          5  depends on where the wells are placed.  Putting in a

          6  whole lot more wells can mean that each well pumps

          7  out a little less.  It depends on how the wells are

          8  place.  It all has to be done very strategically,

          9  and also, this is New York City.  You can't just

         10  drill a well where ever you want to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is DEC engaged

         12  in analyzing that question as well and developing

         13  your position on what you think is the fastest

         14  achievable extraction of the free product is?

         15                 MS. MATTEI: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: When do you

         17  think?

         18                 MR. HAMPSTON: We're involved in that

         19  work, and there's a number of different

         20  investigations and models that are going into that,

         21  but it's an ongoing process, and we don't have all

         22  the completions steps defined right now for when

         23  that number will be done.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Do you need

         25  data from Exxon to figure that out?  Do you need
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          2  more time for internal engineering analysis?  What

          3  do you need to figure that out?

          4                 MR. HAMPSTON: We need at least both

          5  of those things, yes.

          6                 MS. MATTEI: Plus, once you dig a

          7  well, you have to see how it performs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

          9                 MS. MATTEI: So the new wells that are

         10  going in, we have to see how they actually perform

         11  once they're in service because you can do all the

         12  predicting that you want to do, and all the modeling

         13  that you want to do, but then you have to see what

         14  happens in the real world when that well is actually

         15  placed in operation, and how effective it actually

         16  is.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Some time ago,

         18  maybe it was a few months ago, that Exxon Mobil

         19  announced that they were increasing the number of

         20  wells, and you referred to that.  When will they be

         21  online?

         22                 MR. HAMPSTON: Eight of the wells are

         23  installed.  Two others are in the process of being

         24  installed in terms of the extraction point, but the

         25  piping and connections of those work is still
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          2  ongoing.  It will be likely that those will start to

          3  be tied in at some point next year, but we don't

          4  have a time frame defined for when that will be

          5  done.  It's likely to be done by next year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay so some

          7  of them you're already seeing how they're

          8  performing, some not.

          9                 MR. HAMPSTON: The wells are in, but

         10  we don't have all the piping and connections done so

         11  that the pumping is beginning on those wells.

         12                 MS. MATTEI: The new ones are not

         13  operational yet. They still need their

         14  infrastructure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  You

         16  said that you need both more information from Exxon

         17  Mobil and more time for your own internal analysis.

         18  Do I understand you to say that you've asked Exxon

         19  Mobil for data that they have not provided?

         20                 MR. HAMPSTON: They're collecting data

         21  right now. You know we need to get those wells

         22  operational to determine what kind of recovery rates

         23  we'll get from those as well as the impacts they're

         24  going to have on adjacent wells.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Maybe I'll ask
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          2  a simpler question.  Do you feel that you've seen

          3  every bit of engineering work that they have at

          4  their disposal?

          5                 MR. HAMPSTON: Probably not.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  That's

          7  very troubling. I mean in other words, how can a

          8  company ask you  -- and let me make sure I

          9  understand this correctly  --  and Ms. Mattei, I

         10  repeat.  I know your goal is 100 percent my goal

         11  which is clean- up, and the Congresswoman's goal.

         12  When the Chair asked, and it was a great question,

         13  about what legal route to take, and even though I

         14  have a law degree I wouldn't pretend to be a lawyer

         15  with any expertise here.  I understand what you said

         16  about that requiring skill and judgement to figure

         17  out what legal route to take even once you think you

         18  know what the engineering answers are, but it would

         19  be within the power  --  Am I right?  --  Of DEC to

         20  impose a new order.  I'm not saying that you should

         21  do that, or I'm not saying that that's the right

         22  thing to do at this point, but tell me if I'm wrong.

         23    As I understand it, that's within your power.

         24                 MS. MATTEI: I think the answer is

         25  yes, we could go that way, but we've already had
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          2  experience of dealing with Exxon under an

          3  Administrative Order, and  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It wasn't

          5  pretty.

          6                 MS. MATTEI: You know, if you go to

          7  court, you just have more tools.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I hear you,

          9  and I guess the reason I say that is look you're

         10  proceeding in a way, and I'm sure this is the right

         11  way, that is designed not to become all out warfare,

         12  but to get them to participate in a clean- up plan

         13  because our goal isn't to beat up on Exxon Mobil.

         14  Our goal is to get it cleaned up.  We can beat up on

         15  them all we want.  The oil is still there.  My

         16  constituents are no better off.  Okay.  So I get

         17  that. Having said that, when you're being so

         18  reasonable as to proceed that way, the least that a

         19  company can do is say here is everything we know,

         20  and give it to you.  So to hear that they're not

         21  doing that just re- emphasizes in my mind the fact

         22  that this is a company that has not yet been willing

         23  to accept responsibility for the mess they made, and

         24  say we are going to clean it up.  That just means

         25  that we have to keep up our public pressure.
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          2                 MS. MATTEI: Right.  He answer was

          3  probably not.  We can't know what we haven't seen,

          4  but  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right, but I

          6  trust your judgement.

          7                 MS. MATTEI: It's a company with a lot

          8  of expertise, and we really should have more

          9  information then we do.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  I'll

         11  leave it at that, Mr. Chair.  I don't need to

         12  belabor it, but I guess I do think that --  I guess

         13  I'll come back to you with a continued question

         14  about what does DEC believe is the fastest

         15  achievable clean- up.  That's really the question,

         16  and then the legal issue about how to force them to

         17  do it, and the public issue, fair enough, but I

         18  think that's really a fair question for you.

         19                 MS. MATTEI: What I would say is the

         20  pumping method that we're using right now, when EPA

         21  evaluated it, they determined that that was the

         22  fastest method to use.  So it's really a matter of

         23  getting those other wells up and operational,

         24  looking to see whether more are needed, improving

         25  the operations of the existing wells to get at this
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          2  phase we're in right now, which is the removal of

          3  the free product.  The next phase getting into the

          4  soil contamination and the dissolved water, that

          5  will be the harder phase.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let me just

          7  say I have to excuse myself to go across the way,

          8  Mr. Chair, but I will return. I wanted to say that I

          9  know you're going to hear from Basil Seggos at

         10  Riverkeeper who I and my constituents just couldn't

         11  more indebted to for really getting whatever

         12  progress we as a group have been able to get so far

         13  is really due to Riverkeeper's efforts.  So I just

         14  wanted to acknowledge that.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 I'm sorry.  The last point I would to

         16  make, Ms. Mattei, I heard what you said before about

         17  requiring a special permit for the discharge, and I

         18  just want to commend you.  I think that's a terrific

         19  change in policy to say yes that that does require a

         20  permit.  Of course it does, and we will certainly be

         21  participating in that.  As you point out, that

         22  allows input and scrutiny.  We'll certainly be

         23  participating in that, but I just commend you for

         24  that.

         25                 MS. MATTEI: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Yassky.  Council Member Eugene.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER EUGENE: Thank you very

          5  much, Mr. Chair.  I want to say thank you also to

          6  Congresswoman Velazquez for your testimony.  Thank

          7  you very much, and thank you also, Ms. Mattei, for

          8  your testimony and very important information that

          9  you bring us today.  In your testimony, you say that

         10  no vapor was found in the houses.  We know that in

         11  order to observe certain disease, especially in

         12  terms of contamination, it takes time to know

         13  exactly if the people are going to be affected or

         14  not.  Do you believe that it is safe, or fair to say

         15  that there are not consequences on behalf of the

         16  people due to the contamination?

         17                 MS. MATTEI: I wouldn't make

         18  statements about that. It would be outside my area

         19  of expertise.  As I mentioned, we deal in the

         20  business of prevention.  We look at potential for

         21  exposure, and all we can say right now is that in

         22  the homes, the residential home that we tested  --

         23  and there was just 52 of them.  So it's not

         24  comprehensive testing  --  we did not find

         25  petroleum- related vapors, and that was encouraging.
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          2    It doesn't tell us what might have happened in the

          3  past.  It doesn't tell us what might happen in the

          4  future.  We know that the petroleum has been seeping

          5  into Newtown Creek, and that's a hazard.  From our

          6  perspective, as long as this contamination is there

          7  in the community, it presents a risk, and it's got

          8  to be removed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER EUGENE: Okay, but is

         10  there any plan to continue to do investigation in

         11  order to make sure that the people are not at risk

         12  to become sick?  I hope that there's a plan, and

         13  they repeat the investigation very often because

         14  some of the time, it takes time.

         15                 MS. MATTEI: Right, and that's a

         16  question I need to defer to the State Health

         17  Department for how they're managing and what they're

         18  going to be looking at because that was really their

         19  study, and that's the angle that they will have to

         20  pursue.  So our role in this really getting the

         21  stuff out of there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER EUGENE: Thank you very

         23  much.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         25  Council Member Eugene.  Council Member Mark-
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          2  Viverito.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

          4  you, Mr. Chair, and I'll be very brief.  I want to

          5  just thank the leadership of yourself, the Speaker,

          6  and everyone that has been involved in this issue,

          7  and our Congresswoman that was here earlier.  I

          8  guess I just want to pick up quickly, and then I

          9  have a separate question, but on what Council Member

         10  Eugene just raised.  What was analyzed was the

         11  potential vapors, if there were any, in a home.

         12  There really was no analysis with regards to

         13  depending on how long people have been living in

         14  those homes, but on the individuals living in the

         15  homes.  Correct?

         16                 MS. MATTEI: It was not a health

         17  study.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Right.

         19                 MS. MATTEI: It was strictly looking

         20  at is there vapor intrusion, is it getting inside

         21  the building.  That's what that study was about.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Has

         23  there been any discussion of doing that maybe on

         24  long- term residents in the area? I don't know.  I'm

         25  wondering if there's been any discussion on studying
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          2  potentially the health impact.

          3                 MS. MATTEI: I'll have to refer that

          4  to the State Health Department because that's not

          5  something that we would do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

          7  I'm just curious, and I do want to say that I really

          8  do appreciate this hearing because I mean this is an

          9  incredible injustice that happened right here in the

         10  City of New York, and that there may be many of us

         11  that are not fully aware of what the problems of

         12  Newtown Creek have been, and that this is happening

         13  within our borders.  So it's really a great

         14  injustice that we really need to act on, and really

         15  be vocal and put all the pressure we can especially

         16  with Exxon Mobil that has proven, historically, is

         17  not a great company.

         18                 Having said that, I wanted to just

         19  touch on a little bit on the public sessions.  Just

         20  quickly, you mentioned October 16th of this year.

         21  How was the information distributed to the community

         22  about that meeting?  How was the community alerted

         23  to that meeting?  How many people attended?

         24                 MS. MATTEI: That was a pretty well

         25  attended hearing. We reached out through elected
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          2  officials in the community, and the Community Board.

          3    We were familiar with a number of the community

          4  groups involved so we got it out that way.  We got

          5  it in to the local newspaper.  It's really important

          6  to us to maintain this and to keep an open door

          7  policy with the public, with community.  I have

          8  worked for years with Irene Klementowicz who is

          9  someone that I have great respect for.  She was very

         10  involved in getting that horrible Greenpoint garbage

         11  incinerator shut down, and she's done a lot of

         12  important things for the community, and there are

         13  many other leaders in the community that have been

         14  dedicated to this for a long.  So in this

         15  administration we view them as partners.  We view

         16  them as people who are part of this effort that

         17  we're working with and we very much want to have an

         18  open door and open communication with them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I know

         20  we're going to hear from some of the advocates, but

         21  my sense just picking up on the testimony from the

         22  Congresswoman, reading the briefing paper, hearing

         23  what's been discussed, that at least there is an

         24  acknowledgment that there seems to be an increased

         25  level of interest now with this administration then
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          2  there had been prior, and I guess that is a good

          3  thing to the further extent that we can take it the

          4  better.  I'm just curious.  Had there been any prior

          5  action by the Attorney General, when the Governor

          6  was then Attorney General, on this issue?

          7                 MS. MATTEI: Well the original Notice

          8  of Intent to Sue was actually  --  When was that

          9  issued?  That was in February of 2007, but there

         10  were investigations and research going on under

         11  Governor Spitzer was he was the Attorney General.

         12  So there was a lot of research that was going on at

         13  the time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Again,

         15  I really believe in the community organizing aspect,

         16  with the communication with the community.

         17  Obviously, our agencies need to be responsive to the

         18  needs, but also that there be that communication

         19  with elected officials, with the community groups,

         20  and I hope that these --  October 16th was a meeting

         21    --  but I hope that you consider maybe having

         22  updates.  I don't know if it's twice a year, every

         23  quarter, whatever you decide, but that there is that

         24  kind of ongoing dialogue as a way of just

         25  reaffirming the commitment to really rectifying this
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          2  great injustice that's been done.  It's been long

          3  overdue.  We're talking about decades of neglect on

          4  the part of this company, and I would say that even

          5  potentially maybe our agencies haven't been the most

          6  responsive to this issue either.  So we need to

          7  address that as well, but I thank you for your

          8  efforts. I look forward to hearing from the

          9  advocates.  Thank you.

         10                 MS. MATTEI: Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         12  Suzanne.  Thank you for being here today, for

         13  bringing your good team, and for the breath of fresh

         14  air that you and your team and this administration

         15  are bringing to this profound crisis.  Thank you.

         16                 MS. MATTEI: We appreciate it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Geoff Laccetti,

         18  hopefully I'm saying that right, of the State Health

         19  Department.  Did I say your name correctly?

         20                 MR. LACCETTI: Laccetti, that's

         21  correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank you

         23  for being here.  We appreciate that.  Do we have a

         24  statement from Mr. Laccetti?

         25                 MR. LACCETTI: I have a brief
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          2  statement. Unfortunately, I did not bring copies.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Fine.  So

          4  if you could, for the record, identify yourself and

          5  your colleague, and proceed with your statement.

          6                 MR. LACCETTI: My name is Geoff

          7  Laccetti, and this is Dawn Hendrick (phonetic).

          8  She's the Project Manager.  I'm the Chief of the

          9  Metropolitan Section in the Bureau of Environmental

         10  Exposed Investigation for the New York State

         11  Department of Health, and the New York State

         12  Department of Health is involved in the

         13  investigation and remediation of sites such as the

         14  Greenpoint petroleum spill to determine how people

         15  can be exposed to chemical contamination from the

         16  site and ensure that actions are taken to minimize

         17  or eliminate exposures.  We reviewed the information

         18  generated for the Greenpoint site, and find that no

         19  one is currently being exposed through ingestion of

         20  groundwater because the area of the spill is

         21  supplied with public water from a remote source.

         22  The public is not exposed by direct contact with

         23  contaminated soil or the free petroleum product

         24  because the contamination is below the ground

         25  surface that is beneath buildings, pavement and
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          2  several feet of soil.

          3                 The potential exposure that requires

          4  investigation is the potential for inhalation of

          5  volatile organic compounds related to the petroleum

          6  spill.  There is a potential for these chemicals to

          7  enter the indoor air of occupied structure through a

          8  process called soil vapor intrusion.  Soil vapor

          9  intrusion occurs when chemicals in soil and

         10  groundwater volatilize and enter the spaces between

         11  soil particles in the form of a vapor.  These vapors

         12  can seep into structures through cracks in the

         13  basement floor sumps and the like, and can

         14  accumulate in indoor air.

         15                 To determine if this is occurring in

         16  the Greenpoint spill area, air samples were

         17  collected from structures in the commercial and

         18  residential areas.  In the residential areas,

         19  samples were collected in 52 structures.  An air

         20  sample was collected from beneath the basement

         21  floor, in the basement, the first floor and outside.

         22    This set of samples is collected to help us

         23  determine if chemical contaminants detected in

         24  indoor air are a result of soil vapor intrusion, or

         25  originate from within the structure, or ambient air.
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          2                 Based on the results of the sampling,

          3  the State Health Department did not identify any

          4  current migration of petroleum vapors from the oil

          5  spills into area homes via vapor intrusion.

          6                 We did find two areas of concern that

          7  require further investigation.  In one area call the

          8  Meeker Avenue area, we found levels of chlorinated

          9  solvents that appear to be the result of soil vapor

         10  intrusion that are not related to the petroleum

         11  spill.  DEC is currently carrying out an

         12  investigation to determine the sources of these

         13  contaminants.

         14                 The other area consists of two homes

         15  where we found several different chemicals in the

         16  homes that we think may be related to products used

         17  now, or in the past, in these homes.

         18                 State Health Department will continue

         19  to work with DEC and EPA to ensure all potential

         20  exposure related to the petroleum spill, chlorinated

         21  solvents, or other sources, are identified and

         22  actions are taken to remediate the site, or mitigate

         23  exposures.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So for people

         25  who are in the community listening to your
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          2  statement, you basically stated that it's your

          3  finding that although there's a possible theoretical

          4  concern for soil vapor intrusion, that you have not

          5  seen that manifested, and the two things that are of

          6  some concern to you don't seem to be related to the

          7  oil spill.  Is that what they should take away from

          8  statement today?

          9                 MR. LACCETTI: That's correct.

         10  Generally speaking, the older petroleum products

         11  don't tend to have a lot of problems with vapors in

         12  homes.  Certainly, we do work routinely with newer

         13  spills.  For example, if someone has fuel oil

         14  delivered to their home, and it's spilled in the

         15  home, certainly you have significant problems with

         16  that.

         17                 Part of the reason that we felt

         18  initially when we started the investigation that we

         19  might not find a significant problem, or a problem

         20  with petroleum is because the spill is so old, but

         21  certainly, we didn't know that, and that's why we

         22  did the testing.

         23                 We certainly would continue to do

         24  testing if we had other volunteers.  We did not

         25  expect to go in and not find anything, and one of
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          2  the things we find very frequently in an urban area

          3  is problems with the chlorinated solvents.  A lot of

          4  former dry cleaners, and former machine shops, and

          5  so forth used chlorinated solvents in the past, and

          6  those are not detected, again, unless they're looked

          7  for.  People aren't drinking the groundwater here.

          8  So we don't see it in the wells in the area, and the

          9  only time we might see it is if we do this indoor

         10  air testing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And the sample

         12  size again of the 52 homes?

         13                 MR. LACCETTI: Right.  We did 52

         14  homes, and that was really based on the number of

         15  volunteers we got, which I guess I would say that

         16  the investigation that we conducted really was

         17  limited to those volunteers.  For example, at the

         18  public meeting, we were asked if there are other

         19  areas that we would like to test, and it was

         20  mentioned in the EPA report.  Normally if we have an

         21  investigation of this type, frankly speaking, we

         22  have much higher cooperation levels.  In other areas

         23  of the State where we have hundreds of homes that

         24  are potentially affected, if we have 300 homes,

         25  generally speaking, we get 80 or 90 percent
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          2  cooperation. Here, we got quite a bit less than

          3  that.

          4                 There certainly is a couple of areas,

          5  Van Dam Street and Nassau Avenue, where we would

          6  have done a lot more testing if we had had

          7  volunteers because that would be the closest to the

          8  contamination, and the area that would be most

          9  likely to have a problem, but there was significant

         10  public outreach here.  Both Dawn who works with me

         11  and Ed Hampston who works with DEC made a really

         12  significant outreach, and I guess as Ed Hampston

         13  said, to the point of annoyance, they went to these

         14  peoples houses personally many times, spoke to them

         15  on the phone, and the people said no.  They got to

         16  the point where they just didn't want to hear from

         17  us anymore.  So we would not have designed that

         18  study like that.  If we had, again, total

         19  cooperation, we would have had more sampling closer

         20  to the spill itself, but we did everyone that

         21  volunteered.

         22                 Again, as Suzanne said, this is

         23  extremely invasive. It requires people being in

         24  their home for two or three days at various hours,

         25  having people in your home asking a lot of questions
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          2  about the product inventory.  What do you have in

          3  your house? That's part of how we try to determine

          4  whether  --  You know we do detect things in

          5  people's homes because we look at such low levels.

          6  The question is where is it coming from.  That's why

          7  we do that sample under the slab to see if this

          8  stuff is under the slab because we do routinely find

          9  things in people's home because they use stuff that

         10  has, for example, petroleum distillates is a very

         11  common compound in things like WD- 40, and so forth.

         12                 The investigation could have been a

         13  little more complete with a little more cooperation,

         14  but I don't know what else we could have done.

         15  Honestly, the cooperation level was the best that we

         16  could get.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Thank

         18  you.  I want to recognize Council Member Mark-

         19  Viverito.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Just

         21  clarification on --  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  The

         22  testimony from Congresswoman Velazquez mentions that

         23  the EPA report did find high levels of methane gas

         24  in concentrations in commercial establishments.  Now

         25  do you know where those commercial establishments
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          2  that the EPA studied are located, for instance, on

          3  the map?  I'm just looking at the map that DEC

          4  provided in their testimony.  Versus the 52 homes

          5  that you studied, where are they in relation to  --

          6                 MR. LACCETTI: Right.  I guess I

          7  should mention that we did test for methane in the

          8  homes also, and we did not find methane in the

          9  homes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Right,

         11  but where?

         12                 MR. LACCETTI: In the residential

         13  area.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: The

         15  commercial establishments that were identified and

         16  studied in the EPA report are found where?

         17                 MS. HENDRICK: In the commercial area.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You have to

         19  identify for the record.

         20                 MS. HENDRICK: I'm sorry.  Dawn

         21  Hendrick, State Department of Health.  I'm the

         22  Project Manager.  The commercial area is located

         23  between the residential area and Newtown Creek.  So

         24  if you go north of Nassau Avenue, roughly  --  I

         25  mean there is some variation  --  that's roughly
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          2  where the commercial area is.  So between  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Is it

          4  within the plume?

          5                 MS. HENDRICK: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: So

          7  north of Nassau is where the establishments that the

          8  EPA studied are located.  Is that what you are

          9  saying.

         10                 MS. HENDRICK: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Now

         12  the 52 homeowners that volunteered, where are those

         13  homes located?

         14                 MS. HENDRICK: Okay.  If you go south

         15  of Nassau Avenue, and from Van Dam west to I believe

         16  it is Sutton or Kingsland, that's the study area

         17  that we had.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: So

         19  basically you might have had some homes that were

         20  outside the plume.

         21                 MS. HENDRICK: Correct.  Correct,

         22  outside the free product plume, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: So of

         24  the 52 homes, how many would you say were within the

         25  scope of this plume?  Do you know?
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          2                 MS. HENDRICK: I don't know off the

          3  top of my head. I'd have to look at a map, but I

          4  would say maybe about a dozen were close to where

          5  the plume itself was.  However, we need to take into

          6  consideration where the plume was back in 1978.  We

          7  also wanted to try to capture those homes as well

          8  that may have been over the historic plume.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

         10  Obviously, I mean, again, I'm a layperson here, but

         11  I'm just thinking the obvious in what seems logical

         12  here that maybe we should try to really be targeting

         13  residential homes that are found near the commercial

         14  establishments that were studied.

         15                 MS. HENDRICK: Well like Geoff said,

         16  we did try.  I mean we contacted all the people

         17  within the study area that was over the free product

         18  plume and little bit farther west of where the plume

         19  is currently, and where it was historically, and

         20  unfortunately, a lot of the people that are over the

         21  plume did not volunteer to have their homes tested.

         22  So unfortunately, we couldn't get that data.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I

         24  think that's important.  I don't know if maybe this

         25  is where the advocacy groups could play a role, even
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          2  the elected officials in contacting people

          3  personally and getting their involvement.  I mean

          4  just because of the fact that there was this methane

          5  gas concentrations found in commercial

          6  establishments found within the area, it would just

          7  seem logical to mean that residential homes in that

          8  same area probably would have the same problem.

          9                 MS. HENDRICK: Well we did collect

         10  samples of homes in that general area, and the

         11  methane levels were either non- detect or extremely

         12  low.  Methane is a naturally occurring gas, and you

         13  do find it even at very low levels just from

         14  naturally occurring processes, but certainly not at

         15  a level that would be an explosion hazard.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

         17  Now, obviously, we don't have the full report.

         18  We're only looking at one little excerpt that the

         19  Congresswoman presented in her testimony, but I'm

         20  sure you're more familiar with the report.  Was the

         21  finding of this gas in the commercial

         22  establishments, because it doesn't really say it

         23  here, directly related to the spill, or could it be

         24  attributed potentially to the kind of business that

         25  is done is that establishment?  Do you know?
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          2                 MS. HENDRICK: I'm not sure if we

          3  really know that information.  There was a point in

          4  time that we suspected a methane problem, and it

          5  turned out that actually there was a leak in the

          6  area.  So certainly that wouldn't be related to any

          7  breakdown of petroleum products.  It was due to a

          8  leaking gas line.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Melissa, what

         10  I'm going to do is representatives of the DEC, once

         11  the DOH steps down, wants to add some more limited

         12  information because I've got to be done at 4, and

         13  there a lot of people that have to testify so we

         14  have to move this.

         15                 Okay, thank you.  Thank you, Council

         16  Member.  Thank you very much for being here.  I

         17  appreciate it.

         18                 I'm going to recall --  What's your

         19  name again?  Ed Hampston, quickly, because I've got

         20   --  This is your second time. People haven't gone

         21  yet.

         22                 MR. HAMPSTON: I'll make it real

         23  quick.  If I could just clarify.  We're working with

         24  EPA to clarify that statement. I believe it should

         25  have said that soil vapor in commercial area
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          2  detected explosive levels of methane.  That was not

          3  actually detected in any of the commercial

          4  establishments that have been sampled.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

          6                 MR. HAMPSTON: We have done extensive

          7  monitoring of methane both in the homes and in soil

          8  vapor points in the residential area, and it has

          9  been extremely low levels, nothing that you would

         10  not expect to find anywhere because it is a

         11  naturally occurring gas.  We identified one point

         12  that's near the border of the commercial and

         13  residential area along Nassau, and through testing

         14  basically traced it back to a small gas leak that is

         15  being repaired, and a number of steps have been

         16  taken and that's being monitored right now.

         17                 We're working on a letter to clarify

         18  that, especially that one sentence in the EPA

         19  report.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Great.

         21  Thank you. We're calling up a panel of witnesses

         22  now.  This would be the environmental panel, and

         23  that would be Basil Seggos of Riverkeeper, Edgar

         24  Freud of Sierra Club, Dan Hendrick of the League of

         25  Conservation Voters, Laura Hofmann, Newtown Creek
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          2  Alliance, Aisha Browne, Brooklyn Center for the

          3  Urban Environment.

          4                 I apologize that time constraints

          5  require me to

          6  ask people to be very concise.  We all know the

          7  spill is bad.  We all know the spill has got to be

          8  cleaned up, and so we don't have to spend a lot of

          9  time establishing that the spill is bad, and that it

         10  has to be cleaned up.  So I need folks to tell me

         11   --  You've heard what's transpired thus far in the

         12  hearing.  We're all kind of on the same page here,

         13  but whatever specific value- added that you could

         14  bring to today's proceedings, that's what we would

         15  ask people to do, and I apologize for the time

         16  constraints.  I appreciate all the advocacy that

         17  you've all done of this very important issue, and

         18  I'm just trying to resist putting people on the

         19  clock, which I kind of should do, but don't like to

         20  do.  So I don't want to do that. So with that said,

         21  I guess in the order that I called them  -- Basil,

         22  why don't I hear from you first.  Basil, do you have

         23  a statement?

         24                 MR. SEGGOS: I do.  I'm going to pass

         25  it to you after.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Fine.  Go

          3  for it.

          4                 MR. SEGGOS: Thanks very much for

          5  holding this hearing.  We really appreciate it.

          6  I'll be very brief.  Our involvement in this case

          7  goes back to 2002 when we began to investigate

          8  Newtown Creek and its problems.  So I won't get into

          9  how big the spill is and how alarmed we all are

         10  about it.

         11                 Our federal lawsuit joined by Council

         12  Members Yassky and Gioia, Borough President

         13  Markowitz, and five local residents was filed under

         14  the Clean Water Act.  So in a way we're coming at it

         15  through the federal courts much as the State is

         16  coming at through the federal courts as well right

         17  now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Separate

         19  lawsuits?

         20                 MR. SEGGOS: It's a separate lawsuit

         21  completely.  We have the same, I think, interest in

         22  mind, but our case is proceeding on a different

         23  track.  We're still in discovery.  So in a way,

         24  we're still finding out more about this case every

         25  day, obtaining paper work from Exxon, preparing for
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          2  depositions, and most of that is being handled by

          3  our law students at Pace.

          4                 I think it's fair to say that there

          5  has been progress since 2004.  We've heard most of

          6  it today.  The seepage issue is being addressed at

          7  Peerless, though we're seeing seepage from the Steel

          8  Equities property.  The recovery wells are being

          9  increased, which is a good thing, but maybe not the

         10  final thing that we really need entirely.

         11                 Exxon has reapplied for a Clean Act

         12  Water permit so we're at least on the right track

         13  when it comes to compliance with federal law, and

         14  the State has filed its case.

         15                 So the tough work ahead  --  you know

         16  one of the biggest problems that we have with this

         17  case is that still in 2007, almost 30 years later

         18  after the Coast Guard has studied this for the first

         19  time, we still don't have a site characterization, a

         20  full site characterization which looks at all the

         21  polluted soils, all the polluted ground water, the

         22  floating plume and the vapor issue.

         23                 We've heard testimony today of the

         24  various agencies and studies that have been done to

         25  get at that problem, but as far as a comprehensive

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  site investigation, that is not being done.  In our

          3  estimation, you can't devise an effective

          4  remediation system until you know where all the oil

          5  and all the dirty ground water and all the dirty

          6  soil is.  So that's one of the major aspects of our

          7  case, and I know the State's case is to find out

          8  where the stuff is, but now wait until we've found

          9  out where it is, but to really hit the oil companies

         10  where appropriate, and get them to do interim

         11  measures to clean this thing up.

         12                 Certainly, one of the things that

         13  hasn't been really I think assumed by the oil

         14  companies is the idea of Newtown Creek. Newtown

         15  Creek has, in a way, received secondary

         16  consideration from the oil companies for the last 20

         17  or 30 years.  We see sheens on the Creek on a

         18  regular basis.  We see slicks of oil on a regular

         19  basis.  Some of that has been controlled, but the

         20  long- term damage to the Creek  --  Certainly, there

         21  are many polluters on Newtown Creek.  We'd like to

         22  see Exxon certainly pay its fair share for the

         23  damage done to it.

         24                 Now the idea that all oil spills

         25  don't necessarily pose a health threat to homes
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          2  that's certainly a statement that I would disagree

          3  with, and in fact, Exxon, back in 1997, was provided

          4  with a study done by El Dorado Coffee Company on

          5  Apollo Street where you had indoor air intrusion of

          6  vapor and benzene and methane into the indoor air

          7  space, and the coffee company actually had to

          8  relocate to Maspeth, Queens.  Long Island Carpet

          9  Cleaners, similarly, located just down the street,

         10  had a similar condition with indoor air intrusion.

         11  So it's a real problem that's manifesting itself.

         12  It has manifested itself already in some businesses.

         13    So the vapor issue obviously we expect to, over

         14  the years of the remediation project, to sort of

         15  remain something we should all be concerned about,

         16  but the fact of the matter is that it has been a

         17  problem and it will continue to be a problem really

         18  until you get all the dirty soils and oil out of the

         19  ground.

         20                 I certainly urge the City Council  --

         21    It's unfortunate that Exxon isn't here today to

         22  receive some of your questioning because it was 1997

         23  when  --  I know you were at that time, Council

         24  Member, a staffer in the Environmental Protection

         25  Committee, and got some great testimony out of Exxon
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          2  at the time. I'd go into more here because there are

          3  some fantastic contradictions in that testimony in

          4  what they were telling the City Council at that time

          5  and what, in fact, they knew and did, and said on

          6  the ground.  So I would really urge you to bring

          7  them back into Council chambers to scrutinize what

          8  they've done over the years.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I think the

         10  prospects of that  --  You know the whole notion of

         11   --  We have sitting Council Members that are

         12  litigants in the lawsuit against them, and the whole

         13  notion that Exxon Mobil's litigation counsel is

         14  going to let Exxon Mobil in an ex-parte setting just

         15  to talk to people that they're involved in

         16  litigation with that's just not going to happen.

         17  They're not going to send people, and face people.

         18  We have members of the Council who are litigating

         19  them.  That precludes them.  I just can't imagine

         20  that happening, although I certainly see your point,

         21  but I think circumstances being what they are I just

         22    --  It is what it is.

         23                 MR. SEGGOS: Understood.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But thank you.

         25  Thank you for that, and I made some notes.  I'm
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          2  going to hear the testimony of all five, and then

          3  come back.  Next, Edgar Freud, I believe.

          4                 MR. FREUD: That's right.  I'm Edgar

          5  Freud.  I'm an elected member of the New York City

          6  group of the Sierra Club, and we've been seeing this

          7    --  I looked at my folder last night, and in 1992,

          8  there was a pumping station being built in

          9  Greenpoint, and we were given tours by the

         10  contractor who was working for Exxon Mobil.  So a

         11  number of us undertook with the help of the Council

         12  people and other State DEC people, and the State DEC

         13  did have a force.  They put people onto it, but it

         14  was a small force, and this was the group that

         15  handled, and they still do over there in Region 2, a

         16  three- person team that went out and looked at the

         17  oil spills from every gasoline station in the City,

         18  and there are quite a few that they've had to

         19  handle.  Here they were handling one of the largest

         20  oil spills in history.  But I would like to move

         21  away from looking at it as an oil spill.  I would

         22  like to look at it as what my opponents would call a

         23  market enterprise.  I mean we have here oil of some

         24  accountable amount, so many million barrels, and our

         25  current price if we go across the Island is $100
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          2  dollars a barrel at futures, and the retail price is

          3  $3 dollars and something a gallon.  So we have a

          4  great deal of money floating there, and if I put a

          5  well down, and remember I, Exxon Mobil, the guys who

          6  had a tiger as their symbol, they're pretty

          7  tigerous.  They really are clever because here

          8  they're taking a product out of the City soil, out

          9  of the neighborhood soil that they in their court

         10  papers say it's not ours, and they even gave us

         11  proof in the readings.  When their laboratory looked

         12  at it, you couldn't find any Mobil product, but if

         13  you looked at the other three or four laboratory

         14  samples that were sent to other groups like Amoco

         15  and BP, who also have spills in the area, they said

         16  no, some of it is ours, some of it is this guys.

         17  Mobil's characteristic turns up in the readings, but

         18  here they're taking it away, 5,000 gallon tankers

         19  take it away every couple of days, and take it

         20  where?  Well to the Exxon Mobil refinery  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I don't know the

         22  point you're getting at.

         23                 MR. FREUD: The point I'm getting at,

         24  and I've asked this question of other people, I say

         25  at $100 a barrel, there's a profit there.  Exxon
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          2  Mobil says it costs too much, but when you ask them

          3  for how much they spent on this project, it doesn't

          4  cost that much, and if you look at the numbers for

          5  how much a well costs because they've already told

          6  us at public hearings what a well costs, and we know

          7  how much a truck driver gets, and we know the five

          8  people they have on it because they've come to

          9  meetings.  We have the price of what the costs are,

         10  and if you look at those costs, and if you look at

         11  them from 1993 until today, there has been a profit,

         12  and what the Club is saying, although there's

         13  argument at this point, well shouldn't that profit

         14  go into the State Department of Environmental

         15  Conservation Fund for Greenpoint. Come on guys.

         16  There's money there.  You're talking a million here,

         17  a million there.  Maybe we could get those technical

         18  things that they do at the landfills and pull the

         19  gas out under the soil. Maybe they could go protect

         20  the water.  There's drinking water way down

         21  underneath.  Get all those problems solved if you

         22  put a little money into it instead of us arguing  --

         23    rightfully so  --  in the court.

         24                 Remember this stuff goes back to the

         25  navigation laws of the 19th century.  That water

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  should never have been polluted. This industry has

          3  always tried to dump on its neighbors, and it's

          4  time, as you Council people are working hard to, as

          5  you State regulators are trying to work with the

          6  communities, get the job done.  Get the clean- up,

          7  but we're pointing out there's a lot of money being

          8  handled every day.  Those tankers are going to

          9  somebody who says it's not my product, but I'm

         10  willing to accept it.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Unfortunately,

         12  this level of government, as the City level, we

         13  wouldn't have the authority to make those financial

         14  calls, and I think you've made your case to the

         15  representatives of the State who could take your

         16  comments  --

         17                 MR. FREUD: The State has already

         18  accepted Exxon Mobil's explanation.  I think we need

         19  some volunteers if they're willing to take it on.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         21                 MR. FREUD: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Freud.  Dan Hendrick.  Dan, good to see you.

         24                 MR. HENDRICK: I'm not going to rehash

         25  my testimony, but just to make a few points.  The
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          2  first being the signage.  I'm really glad the

          3  signage issue was discussed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, and the

          5  Speaker made a real commitment to that.  She was

          6  Blackberrying people.  I'm gratified by the fact

          7  that that point was raised today.

          8                 MR. HENDRICK: And specifically the

          9  signage about the fishing and what the limits are on

         10  fishing would be very helpful. I was just kayaking

         11  there a couple of weeks ago, and I saw people

         12  fishing.  We tried to warn them, but people are

         13  going to do what they want to do.

         14                 Secondly, of course, the New York

         15  League supports all the efforts that are being

         16  undertaken by DEC, and also Riverkeeper to hold

         17  Exxon Mobil's feet to the fire.  The thing I would

         18  add is that the clean- up effort here really needs

         19  to be supported by a broader vision of the Creek's

         20  future, and I think that's something that's been

         21  left out of this discussion so far, and actually

         22  could provide a backbone for the future steps that

         23  we take.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  I'll

         25  give you just a little bit of latitude because it's
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          2  not what the hearing is about, and I'm pressed for

          3  time, but go ahead.

          4                 MR. HENDRICK: Just a few seconds

          5  then.  So the League, we're encouraging the City to

          6  undertake a broad planning process in order to

          7  determine the best possible future uses of this

          8  important waterway.  The City should engage local

          9  community leaders and stakeholders to develop this

         10  vision of the Creek's future, and here's the tie in,

         11  increasing the visibility of the Creek and

         12  highlighting the waterways potential will widen the

         13  number of people concerned about its well- being,

         14  and increase the pressure for more rapid

         15  remediation.

         16                 That'll do it.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Dan.

         18  Certainly, that statement and that philosophy is not

         19  lost on me.  I've been, as a member of the Mayor's

         20  Sustainability Advisory Committee, we're not really

         21  satisfied with PlaNYC's vision of 90 percent

         22  waterway recreational boating.  Not to denigrate

         23  their efforts to try to make the water quality

         24  better, but that's not what we're about.  In this

         25  institution, we want better than that, and so we're
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          2  happy to partner with you on that.  I appreciate

          3  your being here.

          4                 Laura Hofmann, Newtown Creek

          5  Alliance.

          6                 MS. HOFMANN: Thank you.  Thank you

          7  for the opportunity to speak to you about the oil

          8  spill under Greenpoint and Newtown Creek.  I'm a co-

          9  plaintiff in Riverkeepers federal environmental case

         10  against the involved oil companies.  Today, I'm

         11  speaking on behalf of the Newtown Creek Alliance and

         12  my entire family.

         13                 I've lived in Greenpoint all my life,

         14  and grew up knowing about the oil spill.  My entire

         15  family was exposed to its effects.  Our community

         16  has been forced to live with the oily degradation

         17  and its health effects for over a half century.

         18  Imagine that a half a century.  I was thrilled to

         19  become a co plaintiff in the lawsuit because it

         20  focuses on the damages to Newtown Creek and to our

         21  environment.

         22                 I'd like to talk to you about

         23  community trust. There is none.  This community has

         24  absolutely no confidence that the oil companies or

         25  the involved agencies are aggressively conducting
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          2  clean- up activities.  We're not confident that the

          3  involved parties are doing what's necessary to

          4  protect the community.  For that reason, community

          5  folks have been calling for an independent

          6  consultant to guide us until the oil is completely

          7  cleaned up.

          8                 Our community deserves and needs to

          9  have a well funded clean- up plan, advisory

         10  committee with a consultant and inter- agency task

         11  force that will be accountable to the community.

         12                 The community deserves and needs a

         13  community health study to examine possible links

         14  between the pollution and sicknesses in our

         15  community.  Brain disease has always been on my

         16  personal radar.  Either I'm extremely popular, or I

         17  know too many people in my neighborhood that have

         18  brain tumors and brain cancer. My parents always

         19  lived near the Creek.  First they lived in

         20  Blissville, then in Greenpoint.  I was raised in

         21  Greenpoint, near the Creek, along with my brother

         22  and sister.  Our family medical history reads like

         23  an Area 51 report.  It's a well know fact that

         24  benzene is specifically a brain cancer causer.  As I

         25  speak, my mother is slowly dying in Calvary Hospital
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          2  from a rare brain lymphoma, or brain cancer.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm sorry to

          4  hear that.

          5                 MS. HOFMANN: Thank you.  My father

          6  died in 2005 of another rare and devastating disease

          7  of the brain called Progressive Supra Nuclear Palsy.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm sorry to

          9  hear that, too.

         10                 MS. HOFMANN: Even my parents dog died

         11  from a brain disease.  I have lacunar infarcts of

         12  the brain along with my Lupus and Fibromyalgia.  My

         13  sister and brother have a hereditary blood birth

         14  defect called Congenital Spherocytosis.  Even though

         15  no one in our family ever had that disease to

         16  inherit it from.  My oldest son suffers from a

         17  seizure disorder, also a brain disorder.  Like me,

         18  he has been diagnosed with several autoimmune

         19  diseases.  I'm disgusted every time I hear these

         20  involved agency reps making references to City and

         21  State health statistics.  Those numbers don't paint

         22  an accurate picture.  My family's health statistics

         23  would never appear on the same page because all of

         24  the diseases are listed separately as epilepsy,

         25  brain cancer.  They're all going to end up on a
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          2  different page of the statistics.  However, four of

          3  us, not including my parents dog, have had diseases

          4  that affect the brain.  So far, the involved

          5  environmental and health agencies have produced no

          6  comforting evidence that would show no connection

          7  between the spill and our communities health issues.

          8    Our communities health was never studies while

          9  considering our unique environmental issues and

         10  unique exposures.

         11                 Our community's health issues are

         12  also being glared by the fact that long- time

         13  residents have moved on, or have been displaced.

         14  There's no a new wave of hip folks moving in because

         15  of the rezoning, and in my eyes, they're a new group

         16  of potential patients, and something needs to be

         17  done to clean up the neighborhood and address the

         18  health issues before those folks are effected as

         19  well.

         20                 There's no doubt about it.  Oil is

         21  bad for your health and for the environment.  So why

         22  are we being forced to live with it for so long.

         23  I'm asking all of the members of the City Council to

         24  do whatever is in your power to force a swift clean-

         25  up and health study.
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          2                 I'd also like to respond to a couple

          3  of things a heard here today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Quickly, please.

          5                 MS. HOFMANN: Ed Hampston had said

          6  after living in a community for 49 years it sounds

          7  completely unacceptable that a state- of- the- art

          8  clean- up would take 20 more years.  That's 20 more

          9  years of being exposed.  How many more of my kids

         10  are going to have some kind of brain disorder?  I

         11  mean we're in fear for our life here, and what

         12  community benefits are we going to see in return for

         13  a dirt slow clean- up?  I'm in the opinion that the

         14  community shouldn't have to pay for DEC's past

         15  failures.  It's time that DEC really pick up their

         16  pace and work real hard, real fast with keeping in

         17  mind that a lot of people are suffering needlessly.

         18  I don't have the patience to hear people that are

         19  representing our health while my mother is dying in

         20  the hospital, while my kids are getting sick, while

         21  I'm being treated for Lupus.  I don't have that kind

         22  of patience.  We've been exposed to a lot.  We

         23  deserve more from these health agencies, and

         24  environmental agencies.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for
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          2  your testimony. I'm sorry for the tragedies that

          3  surround you and your family.  I think it might be

          4  good to take this opportunity after the hearing to

          5  talk to Suzanne Mattei, if you don't already know

          6  her, the Region 2 Director, and forge a

          7  relationship.  I think you'd both kind of get

          8  something out of that, and I think you should use

          9  this opportunity, if I could be so bold as to say

         10  so, to open up that direct line of communication.

         11                 MS. HOFMANN: Thanks for the

         12  suggestion, but I'm already involved with meeting

         13  with reps from the Attorney General's Office, from

         14  DEC, and frankly, I respect the fact that this is a

         15  new group.  They deserve a chance, but like I said,

         16  we've been dealing with this for years, and what

         17  we're seeing, in my opinion, isn't enough.  They

         18  need to work harder and faster.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fair enough.

         20  Thank you, Ms. Hofmann.  I appreciate your being

         21  here today.

         22                 Ms. Brown, Aisha Brown.  Am I saying

         23  that right?

         24                 MS. BROWN: Yes, correct.  Aisha

         25  Brown.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thanks for being

          3  here.

          4                 MS. BROWN: Thank you for having us.

          5  I'm from the Brooklyn Center for the Urban

          6  Environment.  It's kind of difficult from my

          7  perspective to follow- up to that, but I think that

          8  definitely speaks to the fact that we have to

          9  continue to raise public awareness about this as a

         10  serious environmental hazard. There are many people

         11  that don't know about Newtown Creek at all.

         12                 I'm here just to testify that the

         13  most important step towards cleaning and developing

         14  the Newtown Creek area is to make the public aware

         15  of its existence, and I think that as people grow

         16  and become more aware of the Creek, and we further

         17  educational efforts that the clean- up will happen

         18  much more quickly as there is more public pressure.

         19                 Brooklyn Center for the Urban

         20  Environment runs year round walking tours, boat

         21  tours, bike tours.  We're one of few organizations

         22  that bring people on to the Creek through public

         23  boat tours helping to raise awareness, again, about

         24  not just the oil spill, but what Newtown Creek was

         25  before then, and what it can be, and the role that
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          2  the public can play in its future.

          3                 We received funding from the

          4  Department of State's Division of Cultural Resources

          5  through the Environmental Protection Fund, and ran a

          6  year- long project around Newtown Creek engaging

          7  students where students led their own tours, and

          8  really trying to create environmental stewards.  So

          9  once the community and the youth become aware of

         10  Newtown Creek and of the oil spill, we have a lot

         11  more advocates all on our side.  So I'm basically

         12  just here to say that we should all keep the

         13  pressure on and continue our work to raise public

         14  awareness so hopefully this clean- up process can be

         15  a lot faster and a lot more effective.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Ms.

         17  Brown.  Thank you for your advocacy on behalf of the

         18  Creek.

         19                 I guess my closing comment to the

         20  panel  --  Basil, you indicated that  --  I made

         21  some notes here.  You mentioned some kind of

         22  comprehensive investigation, not withstanding all

         23  the decades that have past, still hasn't been done

         24  yet.  What was that again?

         25                 MR. SEGGOS: Full site

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  characterization.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What's that?

          4                 MR. SEGGOS: A site characterization,

          5  which would look at not only the plume itself, map

          6  the plume and its full extent beyond perhaps the

          7  current set of monitoring wells, but also to look at

          8  the groundwater contamination, which may be larger

          9  than the existing footprint of the oil spill and the

         10  soil contamination.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: A site

         12  characterization.

         13                 MR. SEGGOS: Sort of a three

         14  dimensional site characterization.  In fact, the EPA

         15  got to that in its report.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What did the EPA

         17  say?

         18                 MR. SEGGOS: That this was something

         19  that was needed.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now who makes

         21  that happen?  The State does that?

         22                 MR. SEGGOS: Well the State could make

         23  it happen. Exxon could make it happen as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Exxon is going

         25  to make happen what people force them to make

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  happen.

          3                 MR. SEGGOS: That's right, but if they

          4  want to design an effective remediation system and

          5  say that they've got an effective one in place,

          6  they've got to prove it, and this is certainly the

          7  first step.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Again, have you

          9  communicated this to the State?  Is part of your

         10  lawsuit that it's something that they should do?

         11                 MR. SEGGOS: It's certainly part of

         12  our lawsuit.  I would say it's probably part of the

         13  State's as well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, fine.  All

         15  right.  So this is on the State's radar.

         16                 MR. SEGGOS: Certainly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Great.  I

         18  have to move on to other panels, but thank you all

         19  for your advocacy, and Ms. Hofmann, thank you for

         20  your very poignant and touching testimony, and you

         21  and your family will be in my prayers.

         22                 MR. SEGGOS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Deanna Betetti

         24  of Congress Member Yvette Clarke has a statement.  I

         25  apologize that I mixed up the slips, and she had to
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          2  move on to other things, but her testimony will be

          3  entered into the record.

          4                 We'll have our final panel, Irene

          5  Klementowicz, Rolf Carle, and Teresa Toro.  I don't

          6  know if Teresa Toro is still here.

          7                 I'd like to thank Suzanne Mattei for

          8  staying for the whole hearing.  It's not often we'll

          9  get a regional director who will stick around for

         10  the whole hearing.  You've got competent people who

         11  could listen to the proceedings, but you wanted to

         12  listen for yourself, and that should be noted,

         13  acknowledged and appreciated.  Thank you.

         14                 Irene, why don't you go first.  Thank

         15  you for being here.  I appreciate having you.  Just

         16  state your name for the record, and proceed.  I'm

         17  sorry that it's late in the day, and I'm hurried as

         18  well, but I'm sure you could give us your pearls of

         19  wisdom in short order.  You seem ready.

         20                 You've got to put the microphone on.

         21  Press that button.

         22                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: I thought it was

         23  on.  Irene Klementowicz from the Greenpoint area.

         24  I've been there for 49 years, from 1958, and I have

         25  a little bit of information about myself, what I've
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          2  done and worked with.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We believe you.

          4  Let's get right to the meet.  Your reputation

          5  proceeds you.

          6                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Okay.  What I heard

          7  from Ms. Laura Hofmann is actually more than I could

          8  say.  All I know is that I think everybody needs to

          9  rediscover their conscience.  Where is the justice

         10  for this area.  Is it justice or injustice?  Now I

         11  recall Samara Swanston working on these projects

         12  with these incinerator, but I know you want to talk

         13  only about the oil spill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Absolutely.

         15                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: But that's not the

         16  thing effecting this Greenpoint area.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: In fairness, I

         18  can't grant latitude for other issues.  In all

         19  candor, it's not a hearing on these other issues.

         20  It's a hearing on the spill.

         21                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Absolutely.  How do

         22  you expect the community to have confidence when for

         23  the past decades so little was done.  I still have

         24  very little confidence in the DEP, the DEC and the

         25  EPA.  When it was my group that worked with all of
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          2  these problems, we did have meetings with New York

          3  City Health Department.  It was Dr. Kutzman

          4  (phonetic) and the epidemiologist was Ms. Margaret

          5  Keminsky (phonetic).  So we have done a good job and

          6  worked for the community hoping that they would

          7  understand what the situation is.  Unfortunately,

          8  even the State Attorney General, many years ago,

          9  pooped pooped this away also  -- that oil spill.

         10  I'm not going to say the name.  What happened was it

         11  was supposed to go under the carpet somewhere.  It

         12  would be too expensive to do, and so here we are in

         13  2007, and we're still talking about this oil spill.

         14  Who is going to finally get on their high horse and

         15  do something productive.  So far, it's been so slow.

         16  It's like they're going to wait until I'm pushing up

         17  daisies until they get it done.  I don't want that.

         18  I want to see it.  I want to hear there's much more

         19  work being done.

         20                 We were very naive.  We're the group,

         21  the Concerned Citizens of Greenpoint, that got that

         22  consent order moving, and unfortunately, I heard

         23  consent order frequently, but the consent order has

         24  had several amendments.  So you have to realize to

         25  read a lot.  If you have a staff, ask them to go
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          2  look back with the Concerned Citizens of Greenpoint

          3  and see what had been done for the past decade.

          4  It's a big eye opener.

          5                 Once again, I would just say that

          6  reinvent your conscious because all of these gallons

          7  of oil that's still underground.  We've been working

          8  on this for years, and we're all getting older and

          9  crotchety.  Fortunately, we're getting younger

         10  people here.  Ms. Suzanne Mattei, who I know for

         11  many years also, and Ms. Sumera (phonetic).  For

         12  years, it's the same issue.  When does it get

         13  resolved?  Who do we need to get this resolved?  You

         14  cannot depend on the little people in the community

         15  to push you. I don't think that's fair.  We have our

         16  lives also.  So what we have been doing for decades

         17  needs to come to an agreement, needs to come to a

         18  solution.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me say the

         20  following, you have a situation where you have two

         21  very engaged members of Congress, the Speaker of the

         22  Council, a new Governor, DEC Commissioner, DEC

         23  Regional Commissioner, a new Attorney General, the

         24  good work of Riverkeeper, and so it seems that, and

         25  not just using traditional vectors, but trying to
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          2  get strong public support for what they're doing.

          3  So it would seem to me from where I sit that the

          4  planets are kind of aligning here, and while we all

          5  would like things to move quickly, it seems that all

          6  the governmental and legal and public relation stops

          7  are all being pulled out, and if ever there was a

          8  time that things looked they were on the precipice

          9  of really going in the right direction, this would

         10  be it.

         11                 My only concern quite frankly is a

         12  technological one and kind of an engineering one.

         13  If despite all the victories, if technology is still

         14  of such a state that we can't really expect the

         15  spill to be cleaned up as soon as we would like, and

         16  that's kind of my fear, but there are two sort of

         17  prongs.  There's like the legal road to make this

         18  happen, and then like the technological and

         19  engineering one, and I think that's where we're

         20  going to have some hang up and hiccups, but I'm

         21  confident that at least on a public relations level

         22  and a legal level, focusing on a government level

         23  that that's all happening.

         24                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Very slowly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So I appreciate
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          2  your perspective, and I encourage your continued

          3  advocacy on this, but I think it's starting to pay

          4  dividends.

          5                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Fortunately, we

          6  have new people. So there's possibility of some

          7  action.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's what I've

          9  been saying.

         10                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Sooner than later,

         11  and I appreciate your attention, to every speaker

         12  that was here you're great.  You really are

         13  listening, which I think is important.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well my mother

         15  taught me well.

         16                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: That's great.  My

         17  mother taught me well too.  So I thank you for your

         18  attention.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         20  Irene.

         21                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: Fortunately, we

         22  hope to see something sooner.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Here, here.

         24  Thank God, we're both young.

         25                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: No, I'm not young.
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          2  Thank you, sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Teresa Toro.

          4                 MS. TORO: Thank you, and I want to

          5  echo Irene's words.  Thank you so much for having

          6  this hearing, and listening so attentively.  It

          7  really is important.  Commenting on what was

          8  happening earlier, whether or not the City Council

          9  has the power to subpoena, to compel a private

         10  corporation to appear, I'd say if you do not have

         11  that power, you should work towards legislating

         12  yourselves that power because that would be

         13  critical, and I am shocked, but not surprised, that

         14  Exxon Mobil declined to attend. They have been

         15  obstinate and obstructionist pretty much every step

         16  of the way of this process.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: As I said

         18  before, the whole notion that there litigation

         19  counsel would allow them to appear before litigants

         20  that's not something that's like going to happen

         21  like on this planet.

         22                 MS. TORO: I know, but they do have a

         23  lovely press office and certain that they can talk

         24  about.  They certainly do talk to us in public

         25  meetings.  So I don't understand.  There are
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          2  obviously some things that they are free to discuss

          3  in an open setting.

          4                 I also want to mention that I'm a co-

          5  plaintiff in the Riverkeeper lawsuit, actually along

          6  with Irene and Rolf here, and  --

          7                 MS. KLEMENTOWICZ: I'm not on the

          8  lawsuit.

          9                 MS. TORO: Oh, sorry.  She's just so

         10  present.  I always think she's a co- plaintiff.

         11  There are a few other co plaintiffs in the room.

         12  Riverkeeper has done a lot to bring Exxon Mobil to

         13  task to get a lot of information, but as Basil

         14  Seggos said, it's very frustrating because there are

         15  a lot of contradictions, and dare I say, lies in

         16  Exxon Mobil's statements past and present.

         17                 Mostly, I'm exasperated because up

         18  until very recently when the planets did start to

         19  align, we have had to take Exxon Mobil's word for it

         20  from day one regarding the location, the footprint,

         21  and the size of the spill, and we are still

         22  operating on information that Exxon Mobil has

         23  provided us.  So I would urge you to be very

         24  attentive to that, and to continue, whether it is

         25  through some kind of legislation, or through the
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          2  court of public opinion to get to the bottom of this

          3  to find out exactly the scope of the oil spill

          4  because really everything else that we want to talk

          5  about is based on that, where is it.

          6                 I'm very glad to hear the DEC is

          7  saying look it's there.  It's got to be cleaned up

          8  period, but Exxon Mobil has still not done right by

          9  the community just in the very simple area of

         10  information.  So I would urge you to do whatever you

         11  can legislatively, publicly, to stand with the

         12  community and continue to pressure Exxon Mobil for

         13  the data that we need not just for the environmental

         14  clean- up, but just for environmental justice.

         15                 As Speaker Quinn mentioned earlier,

         16  this sort of thing is likely to happen again

         17  somewhere in the City, and we must not let this

         18  linger as a precedent.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Ms.

         21  Toro. Certainly, I'm going to continue, I just said,

         22  to use our bully pulpit here.  The Speaker is fully

         23  engaged.  I look forward to working with Suzanne.

         24  There's a new sheriff in town, and so this all good.

         25  Thank you, and I'm sorry for all of your travails.
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          2                 MS. TORO: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Rolf, you're

          4  closing the show. Bring it.

          5                 MR. CARLE: My name is Rolf Carle.

          6  I'm a long-time resident of Greenpoint, and also a

          7  co-plaintiff  --  Actually, we have five

          8  co-plaintiffs on the Riverkeeper suit.  Four of them

          9  are here today, which I think is great.

         10                 I'm going to read the big print in my

         11  notes today. Somebody has got to lead the charge,

         12  and I think this is a great opportunity for your

         13  Committee to really take this on.  I see that you're

         14  doing that, and I really appreciate it.

         15                 The extent of this oil spill is not

         16  known.  People have talked about it, and that's

         17  where we're at now.  We really have to see the veins

         18  of this oil spill.  Exxon would like to put a damper

         19  on it right now, and say well clean this up, but we

         20  have to know what it is.  Every time a construction

         21  company digs in Greenpoint, whether it's close to

         22  the spill, or further away, we find oil.  I think

         23  that's also something that your Committee should be

         24  aware of within Greenpoint.

         25                 I know you just want to keep it
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          2  specifically to the spill, but it's so hard since we

          3  don't know exactly where it's migrated to, and I

          4  think a lot of energy should be put on that, and

          5  then put Exxon to task.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well the thing

          7  that Basil was talking about, the site

          8  characterization would get to that issue. Would it

          9  not?

         10                 MR. CARLE: Of course.  Yes, it would.

         11                 Also, I would just like to touch on

         12  the health studies, and I would look into how the

         13  Department of Health testified today, and really

         14  look for accuracy in their testimony because I don't

         15  really see them lighting a fire under this issue. I

         16  kind of think they sit back, and they look at other

         17  people's information.  They could really be a

         18  leader, and do so, as Laura said, unique studies in

         19  this area.  It's an opportunity to really qualify

         20  this problem, and I don't think they're taking a

         21  lead on it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well I mean it's

         23  always good to get people here, to get them on the

         24  record, and then once they make their public

         25  statement, then that leaves the public and others to
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          2  challenge their public statement.  The Department of

          3  Health came down here, put this information on the

          4  record, and so you're free to challenge that, and

          5  say hey you really ought to be doing more.

          6                 MR. CARLE: Just to add to that.  With

          7  the testing that has been done in the few houses

          8  that were tested  --  50 houses.  It sounds like a

          9  lot, but for a dense neighborhood like that, it's

         10  really not.  And you know the $6 billion dollar

         11  gorilla in the room is real estate, real estate,

         12  real estate.  People are afraid.  The real estate

         13  industry, or private owners of homes are afraid of

         14  this becoming bigger than it is.  It's

         15  understandable. Councilman Gioia has called this the

         16  Gold Coast, and his side in Queens anyway, and I

         17  don't think it's really being looked at in those

         18  terms.  The real estate industry is closer to Exxon

         19  Mobil's side then they are to the people of

         20  Greenpoint's side.  So I think that really should be

         21  looked at closely, and again, as Environmental

         22  Chair, what is going on in Greenpoint, not just the

         23  spill there, the whole thing, as sites are

         24  excavated, it's a self certified situation where the

         25  owners of the properties are looking at the problems
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          2  in their property.  I think that should be

          3  addressed.  Self- certification, I think, is a very

          4  dangerous thing in our City, and I think you know

          5  that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, and I'm

          7  totally against it.  So I'm board with that.

          8                 MR. CARLE: Great.

          9                 So thank you for the opportunity to

         10  speak, and I rambled so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, it's quite

         12  all right. You've got a right to.

         13                 Mr. Carle, thank you.  I thank you

         14  for your statement, for your sentiments, and

         15  particularly with regard to the real estate

         16  industry.  It's duly noted.  So I want to thank you,

         17  and thank this panel for the important information

         18  you've brought forward.

         19                 I want to thank, once again, Suzanne

         20  Mattei for staying for the whole hearing.  It's

         21  important that you get this perspective, which you

         22  already had, but it's always nice to hear every

         23  word, and so that's great.

         24                 I want to thank the residents, Ms.

         25  Hofmann particularly, for being here today.  With
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          2  that said, I'm going to have to close the hearing.

          3  There are other people that want a piece of me, but

          4  thank you all very much.  Thank you all for

          5  participating.  This hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:05 p.m.)
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          9            I, LORI KLEIN, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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